

MAX-PLANCK-GESELLSCHAFT

Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology Working Papers

WORKING PAPER NO. 188

Larissa Vetters together with Judith Eggers and Lisa Hahn

MIGRATION AND THE TRANSFORMATION OF GERMAN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW: AN INTERDISCIPLINARY RESEARCH AGENDA

Halle/Saale 2017 ISSN 1615-4568

Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology, PO Box 110351, 06017 Halle/Saale, Phone: +49 (0)345 2927-0, Fax: +49 (0)345 2927-402, http://www.eth.mpg.de, e-mail: workingpaper@eth.mpg.de

Migration and the Transformation of German Administrative Law: an interdisciplinary research agenda¹

Larissa Vetters, together with Judith Eggers and Lisa Hahn²

Abstract

This working paper, which arose from collaborative research carried out at the Law & Society Institute at the Law Faculty of Humboldt University in Berlin and at the Department 'Law & Anthropology' at the Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology in Halle, contributes to the growing field of socio-legal research on the topic of migration in Germany. It outlines a genuinely interdisciplinary research agenda for studying (German) administrative law as a central arena in which both notions of statehood (governed by the rule of law) and notions of citizenship are practiced, negotiated, and potentially transformed. We present a suggestion for how to bring theoretical concepts, methodological approaches, and findings from sociocultural anthropology, socio-legal research, and public law scholarship into a novel and productive dialogue.

In initiating such a dialogue, we hope to engage hitherto largely disconnected academic audiences, each of which we address with a particular objective: We encourage sociocultural anthropologists, who have a long tradition of studying legal and political organization in non-state settings and more recently have also turned their attention to the study of bureaucratic institutions and the state, to study German administrative law and its enactment within bureaucratic and judicial institutions with the same ethnographic scrutiny they apply to other systems of meaning and social practices. We invite legal sociologists to build on their focus on state law in action and their concern with how official law is implemented and mobilized and apply it more strongly to the study of migrants' interaction with state law as one among a number of normative frames in which migrants are potentially embedded. Consideration of the ramifications of migrants' transborder mobility and their embeddedness in plural normative orders can contribute to socio-legal conceptualizations of current dynamics in public law. And finally, we present to scholars of German public law an alternative proposal for understanding doctrinal reasoning as a contextualized social practice. Our proposal, which not only deconstructs the position of doctrinal reasoning in legal scholarship, but also reconstructs it, is based on integrating empirical ethnographic research into legal theorybuilding in a novel way. By nature, this attempt can be nothing but a first step and will necessarily be both too general and too selective in many respects. Placing our deliberations in this working paper series thus adequately represents their in-progress nature and is intended to stimulate further (interdisciplinary) discussion.

¹ For valuable feedback and suggestions, we thank our colleagues Anna Bettina Kaiser, Benjamin Lahusen, and Almut Peters at Humboldt University's Faculty of Law and Marie-Claire Foblets, Hatem Elliesie, and Lale Yalçın-Heckmann at the Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology, as well as Jonas Bens and Johannes Eichenhofer. We also thank the Fritz Thyssen Stiftung for funding the larger research project with the title *Was "macht" Migration mit deutschem Verwaltungsrecht?* from which this working paper results. Julius Becker, our former co-researcher in this project, made substantial contributions to our initial discussions and early versions of this paper. His legal expertise and practical experience in the field of migration law considerably helped to sharpen the argument and we gratefully acknowledge his input.

² Larissa Vetters is a research fellow and academic coordinator of the Law and Society Institute at the Law Faculty of the Humboldt Universität zu Berlin (vetters@rewi.hu-berlin.de) as well as an associate research fellow in the Department 'Law & Anthropology' of the Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology (vetters@eth.mpg.de).

Judith Eggers is a research fellow in the Department 'Law & Anthropology' of the Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology (eggers@eth.mpg.de).

Lisa Hahn is a PhD candidate and research fellow in the Law and Society Institute at the Law Faculty of the Humboldt Universität zu Berlin (hahn@rewi.hu-berlin.de).

Table of contents

1 Introduction
2 Migration, Administrative Law, and Socio-Legal Transformation – the need for new interdisciplinary research in the German context
2.1 On Empirically Tracing Socio-Legal Transformation
2.2 The Reform Approach in Administrative Law – (Neue) Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft
2.3 German Socio-Legal Research
2.4 Legal Anthropology, Political Anthropology, and the Anthropology of the State
3 Composite Heuristic Concepts: central parameters for an integrated interdisciplinary research approach
3.1 Theory-Building, Doctrinal Reasoning, and Empirical Socio-Legal Research
3.2 Graduated Citizenship
3.3 Legal Subjectivity
3.4 Room to Manoeuvre/Margins of Interpretation
3.5 Notions of Rechtsstaatlichkeit
4 Methodological Choices and Research Design
4.1 The Processual Approach: situational analysis, extended case study, and conflict phases
4.2 The Relational Perspective: settings, semi-autonomous social fields, and webs of relations 35
4.3 The Reflexive Mode: positionality, inequality, and critique
5 Summary and Outlook
6 References
7 Glossary

1 Introduction

Since the summer of 2015, migration as a global phenomenon has gained a considerable amount of public attention. Often couching it in the language of crisis, public and academic commentators alike have decried the humanitarian catastrophe taking place in the Mediterranean and pointed to the challenges that the European Union as a political actor, or respectively the German government, its executive institutions or society as a whole face due to the arrival of large numbers of refugees.³ In this situation, political negotiations connected with such underlying values as solidarity, belonging and equitable distribution of burdens,⁴ as well as the more practical regulation of migrants/refugees by means of law,⁵ and the actual workings of those public institutions that are charged with the reception, accommodation, and status determination of refugees⁶ are among the topics that are receiving renewed and certainly much-needed academic attention. At the same time, however, the current rhetoric of crisis leaves little space either for more carefully historicized approaches to the regulation of migration and processes of integration or for a more strongly contextualized and self-reflexive examination of the changing paradigms, questions, and foci of migration and integration research in Germany. In this introduction, we provide a brief overview of German migration and integration research and identify a lack of attention to the function and effects of law – in particular administrative law – at both a theoretical and an empirical level. We argue for the relevance of socio-legal research not only with regard to short-term regulation of mass migration but also with regard to long-term effects of legally regulating migration in a pluralist society that offers equal chances of legal protection and participation. We also argue that such research is necessary for a better understanding of socio-legal change.

In the main part of the paper, we present our own research agenda, focusing on transformative dynamics in notions of citizenship and in perceptions of the state under the rule of law (*Rechtsstaat*) that result from interactions in and around the field of administrative law. In order to

³ For a commentary on this widespread rhetoric of crisis from the perspective of critical migration research see: Tazzioli and de Genova (2015); for an anthropological view on the 'German refugee crisis' see Holmes and Castaneda (2016).

⁴ Such political negotiations take place at various levels within a field of multi-level governance. At the level of the European Union, the Dublin system for redistributing refugees has come under increased scrutiny. See Trauner (2016) and Marx (2016); for debates about the Dublin system and alternative proposals for distributing refugees within the European Union. The recent EU-Turkey agreement aimed at stopping irregular migration via Turkey to Europe can also be placed within the frame of negotiating the perceived burdens of migration flows – this time between the EU and its neighbours. For a legal commentary, so far primarily in the legal blogosphere, see Thym (2016); Peers and Roman (2016); Hathaway (2016); Heilbronner (2016). Within Germany the debate is carried out in context of federalism and involves discussions about the distribution of costs and responsibilities among *Bund, Länder,* and municipalities. Frequently, a macroeconomic perspective is applied and several economic research institutes, foundations, and public bodies have issued policy recommendations (see for example Hummel and Thöne 2016; Geis and Orth 2016; Deutscher Städtetag 2016).

⁵ In response to the rise of incoming refugees in 2014 the asylum legislation was amended in several waves. The socalled *Asylpaket I*, effective since 24.10.2014, and *Asylpaket II*, effective since 17.3.2016, aim to accelerate the asylum determination process. They contain – among other measures – the designation of several Balkan countries as 'safe countries of origin', the introduction of fast-track asylum determination procedures in special reception centres, restrictions on family reunification, and obligatory residence in so-called first reception centres; at the same time, they also offer refugees who are considered to have 'good prospects of remaining in Germany' (*gute Bleibeperspektive*) early access to language and integration courses. A third amendment (*Asylpaket III*) that would include the designation of some Maghreb states as safe countries of origin was being discussed at the time this paper was written. Furthermore, a law on data exchange (*Datenaustauschverbesserungsgesetz*), effective since 5.2.2016, aims to improve the registration of refugees and the exchange of data among administrative entities. The law on integration (*Integrationsgesetz*), effective since 6.8.2016, aims to facilitate the integration of recognized refugees. It includes measures to facilitate refugees' access to the labour market, but also extends the restriction on free choice of residence for recognized refugees to a period of 3 years. For discussions of these legislative changes see Eichenhofer (2016, 2016a); Kluth (2016); Pelzer and Pichl (2016); Thym (2015, 2016a, 2016b); von Harbou (2016).

⁶ See Bogumil, Hafner and Kuhlmann (2016) for an analysis of the capacity of German administrative bodies to handle the perceived 'refugee crisis'. For sociological research on the bureaucratization of the Common European Asylum System as a European administrative field, see Lahusen (2016).

4

demonstrate what such an interdisciplinary approach might look like, we develop a number of composite middle-range concepts that form a conceptual framework on which we base our empirical research. In the last part of the paper, we discuss some of the methodological choices to be addressed in such interdisciplinary research at the intersection of empirical migration research and public law scholarship and outline how they translate into a research design.

Although Germany is home to a significant number of immigrants and can look back on decades of regulating immigration, the fact that the country had become a society of immigration was not officially recognized until the late 1990s. This recognition went along with a political change of agenda: the earlier assumption that immigrants were temporary guests was reluctantly replaced with the aim to regulate not only immigration but also the integration of immigrants (Sauer and Brinkmann 2016: 1; Eichenhofer 2013: 25–62). German migration studies have in many ways been shaped by this sociopolitical context; they have also in turn contributed to the political change of agenda by critically challenging accepted wisdom. Traditional push-and-pull models of migration and earlier concepts of assimilation were abandoned in favour of new - and increasingly diverse paradigms in migration and integration research. These were variously grounded in the study of social inequality, the critical analysis of power structures, or pluralist, multiculturalist, or transnational conceptualizations (Nieswand 2016: 284). This pluralization of theoretical (and methodological) approaches was also due to a massive expansion of migration studies as a field of research. As a common denominator one can identify a shift from the study of migration as a marginal societal phenomenon with a more or less implicit emphasis on the newcomers' efforts to integrate into mainstream society to a focus on the transformation of core institutions and areas of this society.⁷ Describing this development as an analytical process of decentring, i.e. of "focusing less exclusively on migrants and 'ethnic others' and more inclusively on mainstream social actors and institutions" (Nieswand 2016: 283), Boris Nieswand points to an underlying concern with the interdependency between migration and larger processes of (re)producing social order. This concern with processes of creating social order as such (now also transcending the limits of methodological nationalism) goes beyond the traditional focus of much migration and integration research (ibid.: 284). We concur with Nieswand that applying the meta-theoretical concept of 'decentring' to the field of migration and integration research is useful for achieving the kind of reflexive epistemological stance⁸ that we also advocate for studying the nexus between public law, migration, and integration.

Among the strands of research that Nieswand subsumes under the concept of 'decentring', we note, however, an important absence. There are an increasing number of studies that focus on the regulation of migration by state institutions and on bureaucratic encounters between migrants and state officials⁹ – thus turning the analytical gaze on state institutions. And debates on 'postmigrant' or 'superdiverse' societies have turned mainstream society into an object of investigation. However, public law – as a regulatory force that mediates between society and the state – does not play a prominent role in these studies. Empirical socio-legal studies on the regulation of migrants'

⁷ Indexed in different strands of migration and integration research by such keywords as 'postmigrant' (Foroutan 2016), 'postethnic' (Römhild 2014), or 'superdiversity' (Vertovec 2007).

⁸ See also a recent edited volume by Nieswand and Drotbohm (2014) in which the authors argue for a reflexive turn in migration and integration research.

⁹ According to Nieswand, many of these studies no longer ask how culturally or ethnically distinct migrants adapt to the host society, but employ Foucauldian approaches, perspectives from the sociology of knowledge, or critical analyses of power to investigate how state institutions and policies in turn define (and thereby produce) social phenomena such as 'migrants', 'diversity', and 'refugees' (Nieswand 2016: 287).

lives by administrative law, the legally structured nature of their interactions with administrative bodies, or perceptions of law and notions of belonging related to migrants' legal status or resulting from interactions with state bodies are still relatively rare. The intersection of administrative law and migration seems to have been neglected within the legal sciences and socio-legal research as well as in social science research on migration. This has contributed to a perception that legal change is a political response to public opinion in times of crisis while making invisible the everyday productive relational labour that migrants and state representatives perform on, with, and around administrative law. With the term 'relational labour' we highlight individual and collective investment in building social relations through which 'law' is negotiated, (re)produced, and potentially transformed in everyday encounters. This relational approach bridges the familiar distinction between 'law on the books' and 'law in action', or the common dichotomy of 'law and society', both of which imply a separation of spheres. In this, we partially follow Ewick and Silbey in their understanding of "legality as an emergent feature of social relations" (Ewick and Silbey 1998: 17), but our approach also has close similarities with a relational anthropology of the state (Thelen, Vetters and Benda-Beckmann 2014).¹⁰ The approach we advocate for is based on a notion of transformation which empirically asks whether changes in legislation, scholarly doctrinal reasoning, jurisprudential decision-making, and legal practice occur in the course of or as the result of such relational labour, and if so, how.

2 Migration, Administrative Law, and Socio-Legal Transformation – the need for new interdisciplinary research in the German context

In the following paragraphs, we describe the understanding of socio-legal transformation that guides our research and provide an overview of the three disciplinary fields we aim to join together in an interdisciplinary research frame.

2.1 On Tracing Socio-Legal Transformation Empirically

In approaching the nexus between migration and socio-legal transformation first and foremost as an empirical question, we propose to take the legal relation between migrants and the German state as an entry point for investigating the transformative dynamics of the interactions between the involved actors. Our empirical orientation stems from a decidedly socio-legal understanding of normative change proposed as early as 1973 by Sally Falk Moore and more recently by Eckert and her collaborators (2012), who develop this in relation to the globalization of law and contexts of (transnational) legal pluralism. Moore treats law not as sharply divided from other spheres of society but as a "semi-autonomous social field". This analytical move renders socio-legal change visible and turns the investigation of socio-legal transformation across social fields into a central research problem (Moore 1973: 742). With Eckert et al. we build on the premise that "in the use of law, law transforms those who use it" while at the same time "law itself is transformed in iterative processes [of mobilization]" (Eckert et al. 2012: 1). This foregrounding of the sociality of law paves the way for empirically investigating the emergence of new legal meanings in social relations and interactions. That state actors, switching between their roles as state officials, co-villagers, neighbours, and relatives, hold an important place in the relational reproduction, negotiation, and transformation of legal meanings and are therefore an important category of persons to study, has

¹⁰ The term itself is loosely coined in analogy to Arlie R. Hochschild's 'emotional labour' (Hochschild 1983).

long been recognized by anthropologists, in particular with regard to postcolonial contexts of legal pluralism (Benda-Beckmann and Benda-Beckmann 1998). We transfer this insight to our field of study – the enactment of administrative law in Germany.

Hence, we are interested in the twofold effect of relational labour in specific interactional settings (social fields) shaped by German administrative law: on the one side, we ask whether and how administrative law itself is transformed; on the other side, we investigate whether and how notions of citizenship and complementary perceptions of the state under the rule of law (*Rechtsstaat*) might change among the involved actors. At the outset of this empirical endeavour, we deliberately adopt a broad understanding of the transformation of administrative law, encompassing changes in legislation and legal doctrine (*Dogmatik*), in prevailing case law, in internal administrative rules interpreting a legal act, in the actual implementation practices of public institutions, or in the perception and practices of legal mobilization of lawyers and lay persons.¹¹ Moreover, it encompasses changes in both procedural and substantive law. It leaves room for a variety of forces and agents that might initiate transformative dynamics and allows for the possibility of interdependencies and influences between these different legal dimensions and actors.

A similarly broad understanding applies to the conceptual pair 'citizen' (*Bürger*) and 'state under the rule of law' (*Rechtsstaat*) that is at the core of what administrative law aims to regulate, namely the legally defined relations between the individual and the state. We speak of notions or perceptions of 'citizenship' and 'state under the rule of law' to cover a range of meanings (i.e. 'citizen' and 'state' as explicitly expressed in the wording of the law or as doctrinal concepts held by legal scholars, judges, and lawyers, but also the understandings of street-level bureaucrats, migrants, and support organizations) and aim to grasp the complex interdependencies between these ideas and actual practices.

For our own empirical research on socio-legal transformation at the nexus of migration and administrative law, we formulate the following research questions based on our actor-oriented, constructivist, and relational perspective:

- How do migrants¹² who are affected by state regulation as individual and collective actors use and mobilize legal protections offered by administrative law?
- How do people who apply these laws in administrative bodies and courts consider, recognize, and integrate migrants as legal subjects?
- How do these simultaneous processes, acted out in personal encounters and webs of relations, mutually influence each other and co-constitute the concrete, context-specific

¹¹ Here again, we set aside the dichotomy of 'law on the books' and 'law in action' and prefer to work with a notion of intersubjectively produced legal knowledge. This concept closely mirrors Ewick and Silbey's use of the concept of legal consciousness insofar as both professional and nonprofessional actors are recognized as legal agents participating in the production of law (Ewick and Silbey 1998: 20). We do not find it helpful to conceptually restrict legal consciousness solely to perceptions of law held by 'ordinary citizens' – as other authors do (e.g. Merry 1990) – but apply it also to bureaucrats (cf. Hertogh 2010) and legal professionals (for an inspirational study in administrative law scholarship see Hoffmann-Riem 2016).

¹² At this point, we use the collective and broad term 'migrant', fully aware of the immense range of life experiences, legal statuses (from the recently arrived asylum-seeker to a German citizen born in Germany to parents who immigrated), and socioeconomic positions that this umbrella term encompasses. Apart from flattening out differences in positionality, the term 'migrant' also glosses over a process of self-identification with the category 'migrant' that might take a lifetime or might not take place at all. Analytically taking into account this complexity and problematizing how the 'migrant' and her or his legal subjectivity is produced in processes of categorical ascription is part of our research agenda and developed in detail below.

meaning of individual legal regulations, particular administrative law doctrines, or (migration) law as such?

• What are the consequences of this social practice (i.e. interactions and negotiations about the meaning of law(s)) for German administrative law and for conceptions of 'citizenship' and of 'the rule of law' among the participating actors? Are German administrative law and its basic ordering principle of the rule of law transformed in the process, and if yes, how?

Within our more general proposal for new directions in migration research, socio-legal studies, and administrative law scholarship, these specific but nevertheless broad questions guide our attempt to empirically assess the actors and the scope and effects of transformative dynamics at the intersection of migration and administrative law. In our endeavour to answer these questions we draw on three disciplinary fields – administrative law studies, socio-legal studies, and politico-legal anthropology – that have hitherto remained fairly separate with regard to the study of migration. In the remainder of this section, we provide a brief introduction to the conceptual frameworks and debates in these disciplinary fields. We pay particular attention to the situated nature of disciplinary knowledge formations and point out concepts and debates that are particular to the German context.¹³

2.2 The Reform Approach in Administrative Law - (Neue) Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft

The first disciplinary field within which we position our research is public law, specifically the study of administrative law (*Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*). We take recent developments in German legal scholarship, namely the so-called *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*, as one conceptual starting point. This approach evolved in the 1990s with the proclaimed objective of modernizing and reforming administrative law and practice. Its proponents in academia set out to develop new theoretical and methodological perspectives for the study of administrative law.¹⁴ Relevant for our concern are three central aspects of the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*: its focus on the transformation of doctrinal reasoning as captured in its core concept of reform;¹⁵ its opening towards neighbouring disciplines; and its critical scrutiny of the state of the art of methodologies in doctrinal as well as empirical research in the field of administrative law studies.¹⁶

¹³ In this spirit, we include a large number of the original German legal and administrative terms. Wherever possible, we refer to publications in English, but also draw on a significant amount of research published in German. In this regard, our working paper also functions as a literature review, making debates in different disciplinary fields and language traditions available to a wider audience.

 ¹⁴ For summary descriptions of this approach in English, see Voßkuhle 2007 and Eifert 2014. For a debate on the current state of the art and its achievements and blind spots see the contributions to volume 65 of the *Jahrbuch des öffentlichen Rechts der Gegenwart*, notably Eifert (2017), Schönberger (2017) and Rennert (2017).
¹⁵ On the core notion of administrative law reform as a response to societal change see Hoffmann-Riem (1993),

¹³ On the core notion of administrative law reform as a response to societal change see Hoffmann-Riem (1993), Hoffmann-Riem and Schmidt-Aßmann (1994) and, in a more critical vein, Möllers (2002: 23–30). Although reforming administrative law is a self-proclaimed objective of the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*, relatively little thought has been given to theorizing the nature of legal transformation beyond reform that is intentionally planned and enacted by legal scholars or policymakers. Within public law scholarship a substantial and sophisticated debate exists about constitutional change (e.g. Bryde 1982; Voßkuhle 2004). By comparison, administrative law scholarship has engaged in less in-depth debate about the agents, causes, and forms of change – with the exception of a strand of literature concerned with innovation (e.g. Hoffmann-Riem and Schmidt-Aßmann 1994). A comprehensive treatment of the state of innovation research in German legal studies has recently been published by Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem (2016a). While he develops a highly sophisticated framework for a reflexive and 'open' kind of legal scholarship that acknowledges the constructed nature of (scholarly and lay) knowledge and insists on the context-dependency of innovation, he also retains core assumptions about a controlled/controllable process of improvement also inherent in the notion of 'reform'.

¹⁶ Some of the now-classic publications on methodology are Schmidt-Aßmann and Hoffmann-Riem (2004) and Möllers (2012, 2002, 1999). More recently, interdisciplinarity and methodology have been topics at the annual meeting of German public law professors (*Staatsrechtslehrertagung*); see Röhl (2014), von Arnauld (2014) and Kaiser (2014).

While these aspects offer themselves as potential entry points for our interdisciplinary endeavour, we are more critical of a fourth characteristic of the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*, namely its orientation towards a paradigm of regulation or 'steering' (*Steuerung*) as a particular expression of more general governance theories.¹⁷

Eberhard Schmidt-Aßmann's Das Allgemeine Verwaltungsrecht als Ordnungsidee, 2006 [2004] (General Administrative Law as a Systematic Ordering Idea) was a landmark publication in the reform debate, because it offered a theoretical framework for conceptualizing the forces of change and continuity in administrative law as playing out in the relationship between general administrative law (Allgemeines Verwaltungsrecht) and so-called 'fields of reference' (Referenzgebiete), i.e. fields of special administrative law (Besonderes Verwaltungsrecht). While general administrative law contains basic definitions of legal forms and procedural rules codified in the Administrative Procedure Act (Verwaltungsverfahrensgesetz - VwVfG) and the Code of Administrative Court Procedure (Verwaltungsgerichtsordnung - VwGO), in sectoral laws these procedures and forms are adapted to the regulatory purpose of the particular field of reference (such as police work environmental protection, education, business regulation, social services – or immigration and naturalization). Schmidt-Aßmann describes the relationship between general and special administrative law as one of dynamic tension. One the one hand, such subfields of specialized administrative law have evolved in reaction to and in accordance with societal changes, which has the potential to lead to idiosyncratic legal developments. On the other hand, changes in special administrative law might also indicate legal innovations and thus signal a necessary adjustment in general administrative law. According to Schmidt-Aßmann, it is the task of legal scholars to tie these specialized developments and legal innovations back into the overarching system of general administrative law doctrine (Dogmatik). As an underlying structure, legal doctrine encompasses both the law as legal text and its interpretation by legal scholars and professionals (see also section 3.1, esp. fn 38 and 39 below). Administrative law doctrine is understood to embody the dual core principles of democracy and rule of law (Rechtsstaatlichkeit). These are considered fundamental to maintaining the function of administrative law: protecting individual liberties from arbitrary decisions while simultaneously enabling the state to (efficiently) fulfil tasks meant to ensure the common good (Schmidt-Aßmann 2006: vii).

Immigration law as specialized subfield of administrative law has only very recently been discovered as a fruitful topic for analysing the dynamic tension between general and specific administrative law. Moving beyond the classical *Ausländerrecht* (law on aliens), immigration law is today conceived more broadly as the sum of laws that regulate the consequences of globalization-induced mobility, and it has increasingly attracted attention as a field of reference in which the dynamics of social transformation can be observed. Recent attempts in scholarly doctrinal reasoning to systematically map and (re)order developments in the field of immigration law include Daniel Thym's monograph (2010), which adheres to a regulatory perspective in line with the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft* and depicts immigration law as primarily characterized by one form of state action, namely sovereign, hierarchical, and imperative state

¹⁷ For an early use of concept of 'steering' in administrative law scholarship see Schuppert (1993). By 1996 the concept was important enough to be a topic at the annual meeting of German public law professors (*Staatsrechtslehrertagung*); see Schmidt-Preuß (1997) and Di Fabio (1997). Renate Mayntz (2005) provided an influential contribution to the turn towards 'governance', and Gunnar Folke Schuppert further advanced the theoretical debate in a series of publications (e.g. Schuppert 2011). For a (critical) contextualization of this 'paradigm shift' in administrative law scholarship, see Treiber (2007, 2008).

action. Whereas Thym sees little scope (empirically or theoretically) for doctrinal innovation or new legally defined forms of state action in the field of immigration law and speaks instead of a consolidation of the regulative, interventionist model of administration in this subfield of administrative law, Jürgen Bast in his doctrinal study (2011) detects an innovative potential – in particular at the intersection of European and German migration and human rights law – that could have a ripple effect on longstanding doctrinal questions in general administrative law regarding the position of the individual vis-à-vis the state. To a certain degree, both authors incorporate insights from neighbouring social sciences. Another publication that draws on social science concepts is Johannes Eichenhofer's (2013) study of the legal meaning of the concept of integration in Germany's Residence Act. Less firmly anchored in the spirit of the *Neue* Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft, but also integrating socio-legal scholarship and recent concepts from the sociology of migration is Anuscheh Farahat's (2014) doctrinal proposal for progressive inclusion as a new legal principle governing immigration law.

These recent monographs on immigration law, together with a growing body of shorter articles, indicate that within German public/administrative law scholarship there is a focus on the doctrinal (re)ordering and systematizing of immigration law (which to a lesser extent is also understood in a broader sense as integration law). While scholars note the relevance of empirical data and theoretical concepts from neighbouring disciplines, the primary aim remains that of legal systematization guided by a normative-doctrinal epistemic interest. In the field of immigration law, this normative-doctrinal interest is geared towards the question of, first, how to steer/regulate/manage migration and integration, and, second, how to achieve (gradual/progressive) inclusion.¹⁸

To conclude this brief survey, while the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft* has opened new avenues for research into the nexus between migration and administrative law, there is still ample scope to theorize and use empirical findings and research methods beyond the narrow confines of a predominantly doctrinal orientation. Moreover, it can be argued that the legal scientific concern with reform and the accompanying notion of steering/regulating, which undergird the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft* as well as current studies of immigration law, is both in need of a broader theoretical conceptualization about the nature and interdependence of social change and the transformation of administrative law as well as in need of empirical knowledge about the everyday workings of immigration law.

2.3 German Socio-Legal Research

Socio-legal research in Germany developed along a trajectory that has certain similarities to the US law and society movement (Wrase 2006; Machura 2012), although it differs from it in some important ways. Looking back at the recent history of socio-legal research in Germany from the particular standpoint of our research agenda, one can identify particular topics of interest and research questions that dominated the field at different times. In the formative period of legal sociology in the 1960s, a research focus on judges and legal authorities predominated (cf. Bryde 2000). Especially in the 1970s and early 1980s, a significant number of empirical studies were produced which first examined the social profile of judges and later on turned to the analysis of

¹⁸ New terms and legal subfields have emerged alongside the concern with inclusion; these include, for example, *Migrationsfolgenrecht*, the norms regulating the consequential effects of migration once legal status is determined, and *Integrationsfolgenrecht*, norms regulating the consequences of integration (Burgi 2016; Kluth 2016a; Thym 2016c).

judicial decision-making in different legal subfields, such as criminal, civil, or labour law (e.g. Kaupen, 1969, Opp and Peukert 1971; Lautmann [1972] 2011; Bender and Schumacher 1980; Rottleuthner 1984). Comparably few socio-legal studies were concerned with the field of administrative law (e.g. Görlitz 1975; Schütze 1978). Despite later calls for more empirical research (Voßkuhle 1994; Schuppert 2000), the actual work of administrative courts still continues to be under-researched.

In these early studies, socio-legal scholars were particularly concerned with class justice: they investigated the legal and judicial system from a realist or Marxist perspective and criticized unjust results of judicial decision-making as an expression of socioeconomic conditions (Rottleuthner 1969; Rasehorn 1969). More recent research has also focused on inequalities based on gender, race, or religion as factors that have an impact on the outcome of court decisions (i.e. Lucke 1996; Liebscher et al. 2014; Folianty and Lembke 2014). These later studies are now often influenced by a critical legal studies perspective that evolved out of the earlier legal realism in anglophone law and society research.¹⁹

The effects of legal regulation have been an important field of research at the intersection of legal sociology and political science. Several strands can be discerned within the umbrella term of *Rechtswirkungsforschung*: an interest in the social effectiveness of law, i.e. the level of compliance with specific laws or the general legal order (*Effektivitätsforschung*); analysis of the implementation of legislative acts (*Implementationsforschung*); and evaluation of the intended and unintended consequences of specific laws (*Gesetzesfolgenabschätzung*) (cf. Wrase 2002). This research has resonated with the call for more empirical research in the regulatory approach to administrative law favoured by the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaften*.

In a parallel development but from a different angle, access to justice and, related to this, legal mobilization became prominent topics in German legal sociology research (Blankenburg 1995; Baer 2017: 219–235). While Marxist and realist approaches had looked mainly at structural, socioeconomic factors as barriers that could hinder people from seeking justice, a more idealist perspective emerged around the concept of 'legal consciousness' (*Rechtsbewußtsein*). Both Anglo-American socio-legal scholarship²⁰ and the German *Rechtssoziologie*²¹ have worked with this concept to describe people's knowledge and perception of law based on their own experiences; this determines whether or not one feels that a claim is legitimate or a right exists and therefore is worth fighting for in court.

Regarding the choice of methods, an early focus on statistical analysis in studies of judges and the operation of courts soon expanded to include various forms of textual analysis (ranging from quantitative content analysis to more qualitative types of discourse analysis). Interviewing and

 ¹⁹ For an overview of critical legal studies and their reception in Germany see Frankenberg (2009); for a more narrow focus on the application of critical race theory in the German and European context, see Barskanmaz (2008) and Möschel (2014).
²⁰ For a classic study, see Merry (1990) and – with a broader notion of legal consciousness – Ewick and Silbey (1998);

²⁰ For a classic study, see Merry (1990) and – with a broader notion of legal consciousness – Ewick and Silbey (1998); see also Silbey (2005) for a discussion of variations in the use of 'legal consciousness' as an analytical concept. ²¹ In the German debate, legal consciousness (*Rechtsbewußtsein*) originally also denoted lay persons' understanding of

 $^{^{21}}$ In the German debate, legal consciousness (*Rechtsbewußtsein*) originally also denoted lay persons' understanding of law and was contrasted with the professional production of law, although this dichotomy was soon challenged (Bryde und Hoffmann-Riem 1988: 1, Benda-Beckmann and Benda-Beckmann 1988). Some authors, however, continued to link notions such as legal consciousness, legal knowledge, and legal ethos closely to the question of compliance or acceptance of official legal norms and focus on lay persons solely as the addressees of law (*Normadressat*) rather than producers of law (*Normproduzent*); see for example Rehbinder (2014: 113–127).

observation also became standard techniques that were applied in the context of diverging theoretical and methodological approaches.²²

In retrospect, it seems possible to recognize a development in the understanding of and the heuristic perspective on law in German socio-legal studies that went hand in hand with shifts in the choice of theoretical and methodological frameworks. In the heyday of legal sociology in the 1960s and 1970s, law was largely analysed in connection with the activities and mindsets of legal professionals such as judges and legal institutions such as courts. Law as state law made and applied by legal professionals was the focus of research that relied predominantly on quantitative analyses.²³ The analytical perspective then gradually shifted towards other social actors. The formation of legal consciousness among ordinary citizens and the question of how and by whom the law is mobilized became central concerns. An originally sociological framework was broadened to include cultural studies perspectives and an array of new qualitative and interpretative methods. Simultaneously, the social life of law in other institutional spaces such as the legislative and executive branches – i.e. the vast field of public administration – and supra- or transnational fields of regulation received more attention. Another shift occurred from an early interest in the socioeconomic characteristics and mindsets of individual actors or groups to a recognition of the theoretical relevance of investigating the interactions between these individuals or groups (in particular in courtroom settings, but also during the legislative process or in administrative encounters).

Despite these developments, a strong constructivist perspective that goes beyond the classic mobilization paradigm and asks how lay persons and legal professionals alike transform official law and contribute to the production of legality in the process of implementing, mobilizing, and negotiating law in interaction with other normative orders has yet to be firmly established in interdisciplinary socio-legal research in Germany.²⁴ Recent methodological and theoretical stimuli for a turn towards constructivist, interactionist, interpretative, and performative perspectives in contemporary socio-legal studies of courts seem to stem from at least three different research trends: firstly, a renewed interest in ethnomethodological approaches, in some cases combined with elements from science and technology studies – i.e. ethnographic microlevel studies of interactions in courtrooms and beyond;²⁵ secondly, a concern with law and politics in a national context – i.e. empirical studies of the politics of decision-making in courts and the consequences of court decisions for the wider legislative and political process;²⁶ and thirdly, the gradual recognition and acceptance of legal pluralism as a useful analytical concept which challenges a narrow state-centric

²² See Blankenburg (1975) for an overview of research techniques; a more recent German-language publication dedicated exclusively to socio-legal research methods remains a desideratum.

²³ Examples of this quantitative approach are Hilden (1971), Blankenburg and Fiedler (1981), Rottleuthner (1984). Lautmann's (1972) ethnographic study of judicial decision-making is an early exception.

²⁴ The conceptual framing of legal professionals as *Rechtsstab* (legal staff) in a Weberian tradition and the central importance that the notion of *Rechtsstab* acquired for structuring legal sociological knowledge might have contributed to this reluctance (Schulz-Schaeffer 2004: 146–149).

²⁵ The ethnomethodological study of law dates back to early studies in legal settings by Harold Garfinkel. His disciples have produced a steady stream of works (for overviews see Manzo 1997 and Dupret, Lynch and Berard 2015). In German legal sociology there have been some individual studies, but they do not form a coherent body of work (for an overview see Löschper 1999: 83–135). Recently, however, the ethnomethodological approach has been reinvigorated (see Scheffer 2006a, 2006b, 2010).

²⁶ Influenced by Alec Stone Sweet's thesis about a 'judicialization of politics' (2000), empirical studies by German scholars have focused on the German constitutional court (Krahnenpohl 2010; von Steinsdorff 2010; Wrase and Boulanger 2013).

notion of law.²⁷ This interest in how law is constructed and transformed beyond the formal legislative process by actors other than those formally designated as professional legal actors and who are in many ways decoupled from the nation state paves the way for reconsidering the underlying and implicitly state-centric notion of law that has shaped legal sociology for so long. It also contributes to the current rapprochement between legal sociology and legal anthropology.²⁸

Although these recent conceptualizations increasingly ascribe importance to globalization as a causal factor in the transformation of socio-legal orders, analysis of how migration and migrants as social actors contribute to this transformation has not figured prominently. While there is currently a sharp rise in socio-legal studies of immigration management and immigration law, these studies predominantly adhere to an implicit methodological nationalism. They either ask how migrants themselves perceive and interact with the *German* legal order or how state officials apply immigration law in the *German* context.²⁹ We review this body of literature in more detail in section 3.2. At this point, it is sufficient to note that very few of these empirical studies situate themselves in the larger analytical frame of the dynamic tension between general administrative law and developments in the specific field of immigration law. And although these studies have produced valuable insights, they are not part of what has been described as the decentring move in migration research (see section 1), nor do they address the question of socio-legal transformation directly.

2.4 Legal Anthropology, Political Anthropology, and the Anthropology of the State

The third disciplinary strand of our proposed research agenda builds on a longstanding tradition of political and legal anthropology that has recently been complemented by a renewed interest in manifestations of statehood. The development of legal anthropology is almost inseparably tied to the development of the discipline of anthropology itself, whose early pioneers followed evolutionary approaches and were trained in law. Political anthropology burgeoned somewhat later, focusing on the colonial African context and working in the frame of structural functionalism in the 1940s.³⁰ Both subfields, however, were united by their interest in studying legal and political order, or law-like forms and forms of political organization in stateless societies.³¹

With their interest in the values, judgments, and meanings underpinning social behaviour and forms of social organization, from early on anthropologists paid attention to the 'rules' and 'norms' of all types that structure peoples' lives and social organizations in specific local contexts. With the development of the subfield of legal anthropology, approaches to 'law-like' and 'legally' structured social phenomena underwent profound transformations. Interests and debates shifted from 'law as rule' paradigms in the beginning of the 20th century towards more process-oriented approaches

 ²⁷ This acceptance that legal pluralism is both an empirical reality and a useful analytical concept is indicated by Teubner's (2007) article "Global Bukowina", which builds its argument on the legal sociology of Eugen Ehrlich. Today, even a normative use of the concept of legal pluralism is under debate among legal scholars (Günther 2014).
²⁸ The Frankfurt-based research cluster "The Formation of Normative Orders" is an example of such a reorientation

²⁸ The Frankfurt-based research cluster "The Formation of Normative Orders" is an example of such a reorientation towards interdisciplinary socio-legal research and a renewed interest in broader notions of normativity (Forst and Günther 2010); see also Günther and Randeria (2001).

²⁹ With regard to migrants, Kohlhagen (2006), who applies the conceptual framework of legal pluralism, is an exception. With regard to state officials, Lahusen (2016) maps new terrain by focusing on administrative cooperation in the frame of the Common European Asylum System.

³⁰ For historical overviews of developments in legal anthropology, each with a slightly different emphasis on particular periods or debates, see Conley and O'Barr (1993), Donovan (2008), Moore (2001), and Pirie (2013). In the field of political anthropology, Vincent (1990) is a classical introduction; we find Thomassen (2008) particularly insightful.

³¹ See Fortes and Evans-Pritchard (1940) and Kramer and Sigrist (1983) for this assumption in political anthropology. For legal anthropology see Malinowski's approach to social control and legality in *Crime and Custom in Savage Society* (1926).

focusing on 'dispute-resolution processes' as embedded in social settings and webs of relations by the 1970s.³² Thus, two paradigms emerged, namely a normative analysis focusing on 'rules' and a processual analysis focusing on 'processes'. On the one hand, scholars were interested in networks and social relations between individuals involved in disputes as they characterized the processual nature of dispute resolution. On the other hand, they retained existing conceptualizations about 'rules and regulations' shaping social orders. During the period in which scholars focused more on the processual character of disputes, they also began paying increasing attention to institutional complexities and dispute management in 'Western' societies (Greenhouse 1986; Merry 1990; Nader 1980; see also Conley and O'Barr 1993: 56–64). With *Law and Social Change: the semiautonomous social field as an appropriate subject of study* (1973) Sally Falk Moore published an early and influential contribution to the ethnographic study of law in both so-called tribal and complex societies; this study also paved the way for conceptualizing legal pluralism.

Starting in the 1970s the idea of 'legal pluralism' began to influence debates within the discipline of legal anthropology and by the 1990s it had become increasingly dominant (Griffiths 1986; Merry 1988; Benda-Beckmann 2002). The 'legal pluralism' approach questions the meaning of 'law' and the often-presumed exclusiveness of state-law in specific local settings, even while the scope and methodology of this approach have been subject to much debate. Following Sally Engle Merry, one can distinguish between a 'classical legal pluralism' concerned with the intersection of indigenous and European law in colonial and postcolonial societies and a 'new legal pluralism' geared towards the analysis of plural normative orders in industrialized countries of the West, where the existence of non-state normative orders was less easily discerned and recognized (Merry 1988: 872). Both strands of legal pluralism have investigated the linkages, interrelations, and interdependencies between normative orders, but whereas classical legal pluralism addressed the imposition of one (European) legal system on societies with other, often uncodified systems of law under conditions of unequal power relations, the new legal pluralism addressed and argued against an 'ideology of legal centralism' – i.e. the notion that state law is the only form of legal order.

Legal anthropologists applied legal pluralism as an analytical concept and insisted on understanding law in its emic terms, following a less etatist perspective, whereas legal sociologists were and are more inclined to regard state law as the given legal order and focus their research on how this normative order is enacted (Benda-Beckmann 2002, 2007, 2008). With the confluence of classical and new legal pluralism anthropologists increasingly turned towards the analysis of "the dialectic, mutually constitutive relation between state law and other normative orders" (Merry 1988: 880) and developed a host of ancillary concepts to describe and conceptualize these interdependencies: Keebet von Benda-Beckmann's notion of 'forum shopping' (Benda-Beckmann 1981) provided a conceptual tool to understand how local dispute processes contribute to the transformation of normative orders in legally plural situations. Boaventura de Sousa Santos coined the term 'interlegality' as the phenomenological counterpart to legal pluralism to describe the interaction and intersection of legal spaces and scales (Santos 1987). With regard to globally generated ideas of human rights that are locally appropriated and adapted by various state and non-

³² Thus, for example, rule-based approaches to 'law' analysed these phenomena on a more abstract level, regarding 'law' as an instrument of power and control (e.g. Radcliffe-Brown 1965). However, the increasing interest in the processual character of 'law' shifted the focus towards social relations and processes of dispute settlements rather than norms and institutions (e.g. Bohannan 1989; Nader and Todd 1978). From the beginning, legal anthropologists have disagreed about the application of 'Western' legal categorizations in non-Western contexts, and in this context frequently revisited the famous Gluckman-Bohannan debate of the 1950s (Donovan 2008: 164–167).

state actors, Peggy Levitt and Sally Engle Merry (2009) speak of 'vernacularization'. Most recently and in the context of debates about legal pluralism, juridification, and globalization, Eckert et al. (2012) have asked how law travels to new contexts and how different cultures of legality are employed as 'law against the state' by marginalized people in various parts of the world.

Political anthropology as a distinct disciplinary subfield underwent similar paradigm shifts in the post-WWII era – broadly speaking from functionalist to structuralist to Marxist approaches. After this classical period another shift occurred to interpretative perspectives and various forms of poststructuralist reasoning starting in the 1980s. This went hand in hand with a transformation from a largely stateless anthropology to an anthropology in, and later of, modern nation states (Thomassen 2008: 267). Alongside this development, an increasing number of ethnographic studies of inter- and supranational organizations were produced (e.g. Bellier and Wilson 2000; Niezen and Sapignoli 2017).

As Anthony Marcus (2008: 64) argues, a flourishing interest in 'the state' as the explicit object of ethnographic study and anthropological theorizing emerged in the post-Cold War era. Partially inspired by and alongside Akhil Gupta's article on corruption and images of the state in the Indian postcolonial context (Gupta 1995), there was a proliferation of ethnographic studies that described 'the state' as diffuse, fractured, and socially produced and imagined (Herzfeld 1992; Taussig 1992; Nugent 1994; Hansen and Stepputat 2001; Aretxaga 2003; Das and Poole 2004). Under conditions of increasingly asymmetrical global relations and the circulation and translation of state images in an environment of globally and locally intertwined contexts, so-called 'state effects' also became a major topic of interest in anthropology (Trouillot 2001). In the first major introduction to the 'anthropology of the state', Sharma and Gupta consolidated this new, predominantly postcolonial ethnography of the state into an approach that aimed at investigating the everyday practices and representations of the state in order to understand its cultural constitution (Sharma and Gupta 2006: 11–20). Though the tendency to emphasize the culturally constructed nature of specific state images (and to a lesser extent practices) that this approach induced has recently been criticized on a number of grounds (Marcus 2008; Bierschenk and de Sardan 2014; Thelen, Vetters and Benda-Beckmann 2014), the interest in ethnographically studying the state has continued to flourish and has also been picked up by anthropologists working outside an immediate postcolonial context.

These anthropologists have argued for an 'anthropology of the contemporary' (Rabinow et al. 2008) or a 'symmetrical anthropology' (Latour 2007, 2009) which turns its gaze to core 'modern' institutions of the West. But while ethnographic studies of bureaucratic and institutional settings of nation states and the European Union exist in large numbers, how law works in and through these institutions is much less understood.³³ This gap is not surprising, given – as mentioned before – that legal anthropology was initially concerned with questioning the effectiveness and dominance of state law in different social and local settings. Especially in conversations with legal sociologists, legal anthropologists found themselves arguing against the dominant conceptual framework of state law and for the recognition of other normative orders. The study of how law constitutes and permeates modern state institutions was not a core interest on their agenda and it is only now – when legal pluralism has gained currency with legal scholars and the study of

³³ Bruno Latour's study of the French Conseil d'Etat (2009) stands out in this regard. In addition, a recently published volume edited by Didier Fassin and collaborators (2015) collects analyses of the 'state' and 'bureaucracies' in situative encounters, with several contributors focusing on judicial institutions.

bureaucratic institutions has been established in anthropology – that the anthropology of the state and legal anthropology are beginning to draw closer to each other once again.

This lack of attention to public law is even more pronounced with regard to migration. While there is a large and diverse field of anthropological migration research focusing on Germany, hitherto only a few anthropological studies exist that are explicitly concerned with migrants and the German court system (e.g. Schiffauer 1995; Caglar 2002). Although research on interactions between migrants and different administrative bodies has been conducted (e.g. Scheffer 2001; Arbeitskreis Ethnologie und Migration 2011; Nieswand 2014; Eule 2014), there have been no allencompassing ethnographic studies of administrative justice. The nexus between migration and public law that has been most thoroughly addressed by anthropologists is the concept of citizenship.³⁴ We discuss this practice-oriented, anthropological approach to citizenship in more detail below; here we limit ourselves to noting a certain parallelism between these citizenship studies and the new ethnography of the state that investigates the state from the margins (Das and Pole 2004) or looks at 'state effects' (Trouillot 2001) outside formal state structures. While these studies have significantly advanced our understanding of citizenship in times of globalization, we nevertheless argue for paying close attention to the nitty-gritty details of procedural and substantive legal regulation. Administrative law works as a regulatory force on and through individual and collective actors; it shapes social realities and is negotiated in social interactions in and around state institutions (such as immigration, registry, or welfare offices and administrative courts). This makes it, in our view, a central dimension for understanding citizenship and perceptions of statehood.

3 Composite Heuristic Concepts: central parameters for an integrated interdisciplinary research approach

This outline of the epistemic orientations and theoretical debates across time in these three disciplinary fields has served to identify gaps in research on public law and migration, but also highlights the bounded nature of knowledge formation in these disciplines. The question of migration-induced transformation of the socio-legal order cuts across established knowledge formations, and we have seen that existing disciplinary frameworks exhibit difficulties in theoretically and empirically addressing the interplay of migration, administrative law, and sociolegal transformation. In the following section, we propose recombining these disciplinary frameworks in such a way as to reset the focus squarely on the nexus between administrative law, migration, and social transformation. We begin this interdisciplinary endeavour by outlining our understanding of theory-building and its relation to empirical research on the one hand and doctrinal reasoning on the other. Based on this understanding, we then suggest working with composite heuristic concepts as a means of integrating different disciplinary perspectives, and finally we demonstrate this approach using the four composite heuristic concepts we developed for our research questions.

³⁴ For an overview see Caglar (2015); for more details see section 3.2.

3.1 Theory-Building, Doctrinal Reasoning, and Empirical Socio-Legal Research

We follow Herbert Kalthoff (2008), who - writing on the dialectics of qualitative empirical research and sociological theory-building – has described two perspectives on the nature and function of theory in social science research. One understanding of theory starts at the highly aggregated level of social theories.³⁵ Such theories contain a body of assumptions on the social as a totality and these assumptions then guide the empirical research process, i.e. the formulation of research questions, as well as the selection of research subjects, units of analysis, and research methods. Based on the research findings, these assumptions are confirmed or challenged and accordingly modified and refined. Another understanding of theory, more frequently found in qualitative empirical research of an interpretative and social constructivist vein, perceives social theories as the result of concepts that emerge from empirical data. In these theories, which are frequently characterized as middle-range theories, much work is invested in the development and refinement of concepts that explain a particular aspect of social reality rather than 'the social' or the working of 'society as a whole'.³⁶

While we acknowledge the usefulness of aggregated social theory, our ethnographic approach falls within the latter category of middle-range theory-building.³⁷ Theoretical concepts (such as governmentality, habitus, hegemony, or - to draw on concepts that have been imported into administrative law scholarship – cooperation, accountability, network, governance) therefore have a value as heuristic devices and we selectively draw on them in the formulation of our own composite heuristic concepts. Yet we accord primacy to the empirical investigation of the interpretations and meanings that actors in the field put forward in the course of their social practices. For this reason, when developing our own conceptual framework we also rely heavily on conceptualizations of individual and collective agency, the nature of the state, and individual subjectivity/citizenship that have emerged from earlier ethnographic and micro-sociological studies.

When we turn to German legal studies (Rechtswissenschaften), this picture needs to be complicated on yet another level: here the key relation structuring disciplinary knowledge formation is not the one between theory and empirical research, but rather between legal theory and legal practice (Scherzberg 2008). In public law scholarship (Wissenschaft vom öffentlichen Recht), doctrinal reasoning has traditionally held a central position as an activity that bridges theory-

³⁵ Examples of such social theories include: system theory or critical (neo-)Marxist theory as structuralist theories; Bourdieu's practice theory and Giddens's structuration theory as process- and practice-oriented theories; and Foucault's notion of governmentality as a poststructuralist theory. Another example, particular to the German context and already partially incorporated into the science of administrative law, is the so-called actor-oriented institutionalism *(akteurszentrierter Institutionalismus)* developed by Renate Mayntz and Fritz W. Scharpf (1995). ³⁶ Arguably, researchers adhering to this understanding of theory do not enter empirical research free of all theoretical

assumptions or (more or less explicitly articulated) sympathies for one or the other abstract social theory of the first kind. The two modes of theory-building are therefore not to be understood as mutually exclusive but rather as indicating a preference for epistemologically privileging either the observation of social practice or the construction of comprehensive explanatory models. ³⁷ See Merton (1957) for an early elaboration of middle-range theory-building.

building, legal research, and practice,³⁸ though the scientific nature of doctrinal scholarship has recently come under increased scrutiny. In this context, scholars debate what functions (description, systematization, explanation, reflection, or critique) legal scholarship should fulfil, the relation between doctrinal reasoning and legal theory, and whether and to what degree it is possible to import bodies of knowledge from other disciplines into doctrinal reasoning in a theoretically manner.³⁹ informed In particular, authors who identify with the Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft have followed the last line of enquiry and – in a reformist spirit – developed an increasingly sophisticated understanding of how to incorporate 'extrajuridical knowledge' into doctrinal reasoning.⁴⁰

Diverging from a strong version of legal positivism which relegates empirically observable social realities to a sphere outside legal scholarship, scholars connected with the Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft have advocated working with so-called key or bridging concepts as a way to introduce 'extrajuridical knowledge' into legal scientific reasoning and theory-building (Schuppert 1999; Voßkuhle 2001; Baer 2004; Kaiser 2013). 'Extrajuridical knowledge' here often refers to expert knowledge from the realm of natural sciences or concepts from the social sciences. However, the primary aim when using such bridging concepts is still to test their suitability for doctrinal arguments and legal systematization. Many of the terms that have been discussed as bridging concepts - such as 'cooperation', 'accountability', 'network', 'steering' (Steuerung), or 'governance' – are not part of the classic repertoire of doctrinal scholarship but rather new terms taken over from neighbouring disciplines with the more or less explicit aim of establishing them as individual doctrinal concepts or strengthening a complex doctrinal systematization.⁴¹ In a critical appraisal of the use of such bridging concepts by proponents of the Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft, Christoph Möllers pointed out that the concepts that have been imported most successfully are in fact not the result of empirical research, but were extracted from larger holistic social theory instead (Möllers 2002: 38–40). This has often gone hand in hand with a rather fuzzy understanding of empirical knowledge (Empirie) - ranging from primary data collected with empirical methods to the findings of empirical research or the simple designation of extra-legal 'facts' as Empirie (Möllers 2002: 40-42).42

With our commitment to interdisciplinary study of the transformative dynamics of migration on German administrative law that takes doctrinal reasoning and its practical effects seriously, we find the notion of bridging concepts helpful. However, rather than searching for meta-rules that guide

³⁸ See von Bogdandy (2009) for the central place of doctrinal reasoning in German constitutional law scholarship and Schmidt-Aßmann (2013) for its role in administrative law scholarship. Doctrinal reasoning (*Dogmatik*) can be defined as the development of individual normative institutions and complex normative orders on the basis of positive law without being dependent on the existence of a particular legal definition or rule (Brohm 1971: 246); this is taken up in similar terms by later authors such as Möllers (2012: 156), Waldhoff (2012) and Eifert (2014: 214). Following this understanding, doctrinal reasoning has the task of ordering, systematizing, and refining a field of law such as administrative or public law in its entirety. Both legal scholars and judges participate in this task. Whereas the latter are bound by the necessity of deciding on concrete cases, legal scholars can take a more distanced position and dedicate themselves to issues not addressed in the courts, as well as considering the overall coherence of the legal system.

³⁹ See Jestaedt (2008) and the individual contributions to Kirchhof, Magen, and Schneider (2012).

 $^{^{40}}$ For an introduction to the debate, see the contributions in Augsberg (2013).

⁴¹ But see Eifert (2014: 213–214), who speaks of such bridging concepts formulated by the regulatory approach of the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft* as heuristic instruments rather than building blocks for doctrinal systematization. Nonetheless, he acknowledges the tension this creates within a discipline that has built its identity on doctrinal work (ibid.: 214). Schönberger (2017) and Treiber (2017) are more critical and speak of bridging concepts as merely having a metaphorical function.

⁴² See also Schönberger's (2017) analogous critique of the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft* as being ambiguous about its nature as a scientific or a reform-oriented enterprise and as lacking clarity on its underlying philosophy of science.

the incorporation of extrajuridical knowledge under new bridging concepts into doctrinal reasoning, we make use of such bridging concepts in a reverse manner: as a form of middle-range theory-building, we construct composite analytical key concepts by juxtaposing doctrinal ideas with middle-range concepts that have emerged from previous qualitative/ethnographic research. As heuristic devices, these composite concepts guide our own empirical research and consistently challenge us to rethink and probe the construction and uses of doctrinal concepts in legal practice and scholarship. As a result, doctrinal reasoning with its inbuilt linkage of legal practice and legal scholarship becomes itself an object of sociological/anthropological investigation in the sense proposed by Schulz-Schaeffer (2004). Schulz-Schaeffer convincingly argued that because doctrinal reasoning plays an integral part in constituting the social reality of law, this activity should not be disregarded by legal sociologists, but rather be made into an object of sociological study. By consistently looking at doctrinal concepts from administrative law scholarship and judicial practice and juxtaposing these with middle-range concepts that have emerged out of ethnographic research, we generate a theoretical dialogue which is productive precisely because it disrupts accepted knowledge and allows for, or even calls for, a change of perspective on both sides. In sum, we engage in a repeated exchange between theoretical, doctrinal, and empirical perspectives in order to overcome the established division of work between doctrinal legal scholarship and empirical legal sociology. We now demonstrate how we arrived at the four composite heuristic concepts that are central to our research questions.

3.2 Graduated Citizenship

Our first concept – 'graduated citizenship' – aims to analytically grasp and open up to empirical investigation the diversity of legal statuses vis-à-vis the German state that is obscured by both the umbrella term 'migrant' in immigration law and the generic use of the term 'citizen' in general administrative law.⁴³ The lived realities and experiences with the German state of a recently arrived asylum seeker, a third-country national married to a German, a European Union citizen studying or working in Germany, a person with dual citizenship, or a person born in Germany with a German passport but of non-German parents might differ vastly but are nevertheless grounded in graduated sets of rights accorded by immigration and naturalization laws.⁴⁴ Despite this internal diversity, a migrant's position vis-à-vis the German state is thus – at least initially – characterized by a divergence from the secure and temporally stable basic legal position of the 'citizen' that administrative law envisions as its addressee. Migrants are likely to encounter their host state from an initially insecure and temporally shifting legal position over time. It is this dimension we hope to capture with the notion of graduated citizenship. It analytically highlights the idea that a process of

⁴³ 'Graduated citizenship' is used in the literature on citizenship (cf. Migdal 2006) alongside a range of other terms (such as 'stratified citizenship'/'civic stratification', cf. Kofmann 2002, Morris 2002) or 'flexible citizenship'/'graduated sovereignties' (cf. Ong 1999), which also denote a fragmentation of legal status or a growing mismatch between different dimensions of citizenship (membership, rights, obligations and participation) that map out differentially for varying categories of persons. We develop our conceptualization in dialogue with these concepts.

⁴⁴ While refugees currently hold a central place in public perception of and debates about migration, statistics offer a more nuanced picture: In 2015 9.1 million foreigners were registered in Germany, the majority of whom were citizens of EU member states (4,013,179 persons) and of EU candidate countries (1,987,701 persons). Of the total registered third-country foreigners, 2,482,022 persons held a permanent residence permit (*Niederlassungserlaubnis*). The degree to which migration has shaped German society becomes even more visible if one applies the German Federal Statistical Agency's definition of *Migrationshintergrund* ('migrant background', i.e. referring to people born without German citizenship or born to at least one parent without German citizenship): 21.0% per cent of German residents fell within this category in 2015 (see Statistisches Bundesamt 2016, 2017).

gradation in legal status takes place along multiple lines of administrative categories/markers of difference and increasingly fragments migrants' access to rights according to their different status groups.

In German legal theory, citizenship has traditionally been understood as linking full legal status to nationality, i.e. belonging to a nation state.⁴⁵ The German constitution adheres to such an understanding when it distinguishes between 'citizens' rights' (the so-called Deutschenrechte) and everybody's rights (Jedermannsrechte), and legal scholars such as Kay Hailbronner have consistently argued against proposals that call on fundamental human rights as a reason to extend the legal position/subjective rights of foreigners (e.g. Hailbronner 1983). With the introduction of European Union citizenship, the reform of German naturalization laws in the year 2000, and the diversification of legally recognized purposes of residence in immigration laws over the last several decades, this understanding of citizenship has come under increased scrutiny (Siehr 2001; Schönberger 2005). Legal scholars are now developing doctrinal arguments for progressive inclusion (Farahat 2014) and new forms of denizenship⁴⁶ (Bast 2013) and considering a decoupling of rights that are conjoined in full citizenship status (Walter 2013). Rather than focusing on the element of citizenship that foregrounds formal belonging to a national community (Staatsangehörigkeit), such conceptualizations foreground citizenship as defining the material legal status of the individual vis-à-vis the state (Bürgerstatus). Central to this line of reasoning is Georg Jellinek's doctrinal systematization of various status dimensions and the ensuing subjective rights vis-à-vis the state,⁴⁷ which holds a foundational place in constitutional doctrine (Walter 2013: 16). Almost as frequent are references to social science conceptualizations of citizenship that hark back to T.H. Marshall's (1950) classic distinction between civil, political, and social citizenship rights.⁴⁸

Disaggregating the different sets of rights traditionally bundled together in full citizenship (understood as equivalent to nationality) allows us to examine the specific rights that immigration law grants to migrants as sets of rights that are graduated both along the dimensions of civic, political, and social rights as well as along the status dimensions systematized by Jellinek. Such rights include the freedom of movement and choice of place of residence within Germany, the right to family reunification, freedom of choosing an economic activity, access to social benefits or other state services (such as language and integration courses), and rights of political participation, but also procedural rights. Most recently, Markus Krajewski (2016) has provided an overview of basic status categories (citizen, EU citizen, third-country national) in immigration law and – by using the example of restrictions on the choice of residence – has shown that there are significant further differentiations and temporal gradations of rights and obligations within these categories.⁴⁹ In line with much of recent immigration law scholarship, he explores how far these graduated sets of

⁴⁵ This link was particularly strong as long as German citizenship legislation was based on the principle of *ius sanguinis* (Kokott 2014: Art. 16 GG Rn 2).

⁴⁶ Denizenship refers to the resident non-citizen and the (increasing) bundle of rights he or she can activate on the basis of residence rather than on the basis of citizenship.

⁴⁷ Jellinek (2011 [1905]) distinguishes between a *status negativus* (freedom from state interference), a *status positivus* (the right to state services/provisions), and a *status activus* (participation in public affairs); see also Masing (2012) for later modifications of this typology.

⁴⁸ Marshall's systematization has also been amended and the historical sequence of the model has been challenged: see Turner (1993: 7–14).

⁴⁹ Other examples of such differentiations – currently the subject of much debate following recent legislative changes – within the status group of asylum seekers are: rights and obligations connected to the status of subsidiary protection or dependent upon the migrant's prospects of remaining in Germany (*Bleibeperspektive*). Access to the labour market is a prime example of differentiated rights across basic status groups which also exemplifies the temporally defined nature of specific sets of rights.

rights and obligations contribute to achieving immigration law's overarching goal of steering/regulating migration and integration as envisioned by the German state (ibid.).

With our concept of graduated citizenship we partially move away from this state-centric, regulatory perspective and incorporate social science debates on transnational citizenship as a social practice.⁵⁰ Breaking with the evolutionary perspective and methodological nationalism inherent in Marshall's study, Nina Glick-Schiller and her colleagues, for example, introduced the concept of 'transborder citizenship' based on an alternative understanding of migrant's life-worlds as transnational social fields (Glick-Schiller, Basch and Blanc-Szanton 1997; Glick-Schiller 2005). This concept is of interest for this study, since it recognizes the possibility of membership in more than one political community. Instead of focusing on push- and pull factors between country of origin and host country, this approach analytically foregrounds the transnational networks and fields that emerge through social practices and foster new identities and forms of transnational citizenship.⁵¹ Moreover, the concept also captures the possibility of fragmentation of citizenship, with migrants often claiming (some of) their rights and maintaining membership in two or more countries. Access to citizenship in one state might vary depending on the status admitted by the legal system of the host state, but migrants might also claim rights independently of this citizenship status and instead refer to transnational legal and political norms (Yalcın-Heckmann 2011). Thus, despite being accorded a specific formal legal status by the host country, migrants might claim rights on different levels with reference to different types of rights, legal scales and jurisdictions, and non-state (religious, customary) normative orders. These claims might have the potential to challenge given categorizations anchored in German administrative law and the accompanying doctrinal systematizations.

Both doctrinal legal thought and early citizenship theorists such as Marshall understood citizenship to be a status (Jellinek 2011 [1905]; Marshall 1950: 28–29). However, citizenship studies in the social sciences and particularly in sociocultural anthropology have since moved away from this static understanding and emphasized the practice of citizenship. In conceptualizations of 'citizenship as enactment' and 'acts of citizenship' (Isin and Nielsen 2008; Caglar 2016) citizenship is understood as a practice of claiming citizenship rights regardless of formal legal status. These studies examine when and how modes of claim-making depend on one's specific sets of procedural and substantive rights and how different amounts of bargaining power lead to disenfranchisement and/or juridification. They focus on an analysis of citizenship within ruptures of a given system and the moments in which subjects constitute themselves as claimants of their rights and thus as *citizens* (independent of, despite, or outside of their formal legal status).⁵²

⁵⁰ On the side of administrative law scholarship, Daniel Thym (2016c) has recently identified a 'sedentary bias' as an underlying pattern of thought in German public law. However, having detected such a guiding idea, he nevertheless argues against reconceptualizing structural principles, ordering ideas, and doctrinal concepts. Instead he proposes incorporating insights from a transnational perspective into the existing legal infrastructure (ibid.: 172–173). However, this approach, which he applies to the field of social law, has the somewhat puzzling result of reinforcing an exclusive understanding of belonging to German society and reproducing a binary division between country of origin and host country. His use of insights from social science literature to support a normative argument thus differs from the methodological proposal we made in section 3.1.

⁵¹ Other factors, such as class, that restrict or facilitate mobility and the capacity to form transnational social fields, are pushed into the background in this analytical framework, and this has rightly been criticized. ⁵² This focus also captures constellations where people formally possess citizenship rights, yet still face diverse forms of

⁵² This focus also captures constellations where people formally possess citizenship rights, yet still face diverse forms of discrimination that trigger acts of citizenship within or outside the formal legal framework. For an example in the framework of national citizenship, see Herzfeld (1992); for acts of citizenship in Germany by Romanian Roma holding European Union citizenship, see Caglar (2016).

In line with our approach of making empirically observable social practices the starting point for middle-range theory-building, we incorporate this understanding in our concept of 'graduated citizenship'. Thus, we apply a relational, interactionist perspective that focuses on legal, political, and social struggles and contestations and processes of negotiation brought about by actors who do not necessarily act in the frame of formal citizenship status granted to them by a given jurisdiction. In that sense, people who are 'excluded' or at the margins of a socio-legal order are of special analytical interest, assuming that alterity is a crucial factor for triggering struggles for citizenship, claim-making, and the production of subjectivity (Caglar 2016; Isin and Nielsen 2008; Isin and Saward 2013). For both recently arrived and long-settled migrants, graduated citizenship thus denotes a material status as well as a social practice of citizenship that is shaped by their specific legal position vis-à-vis the German state.

As helpful as the above-described relational and practice-oriented perspectives are in directing analytical attention to a wide, empirically observable array of citizenship claims and self-perceptions of legal status on the side of migrants, they have nevertheless sometimes neglected to seriously engage with the function and workings of administrative law in the relevant national contexts. They tend to implicitly focus on migrants' social practices and fail to conceptualize administrative practice as a specific type of social practice formalized/regulated by administrative law. To avoid this pitfall, another recursive loop back to administrative law scholarship – in our case in the German context – is necessary.

Both external and internal administrative activity, as well as the ensuing procedural and substantive legal consequences (*Rechtsfolgen*), are regulated in administrative law and thereby become amenable to juridical control. Typically, it is the administrative act (*Verwaltungsakt*)⁵³ that gives legal form to state actions. It is the central mode of action in a doctrine of modes of action (*Handlungsformenlehre*) that ties each mode of state action to specific legal consequences and forms of juridical control (Hoffmann-Riem 2012). According to the underlying logic, the function of the *Verwaltungsakt* and other legally regulated modes of state action is to rationalize state-citizen relations in such a way as to enable state action for the general public good (*Gemeinwohl*) while simultaneously providing legal protection to the individual citizen.⁵⁴

Though this conceptualization of the 'administrative act' starts from a perspective diametrically opposed to that of anthropological citizenship studies, namely the normative aim to regulate statecitizen interactions, it nevertheless provides important and hitherto neglected points of entry for practice-oriented empirical research that takes the effects of administrative law seriously. The notion of administrative discretion is one such entry point; another is the interplay between different normative sources, such as constitutional principles, parliamentary laws, executive rules, or forms such as the externally oriented individual administrative act and internal administrative directives that seek to interpret and concretize the application of laws for the administrative personnel. It is essential to carefully consider the legally determined and doctrinally developed

⁵³ Legally defined as "any order, decision, or other sovereign measure taken by an authority to regulate an individual case in the sphere of public law and intended to have a direct, external legal effect" (§ 35 VwVfG in the official translation, see https://germanlawarchive.iuscomp.org/?p=289, see also Schröder 2012: 55).

⁵⁴ The classic understanding of the *Verwaltungsakt* presupposed a subordinate position of the individual vis-à-vis the state. In the wake of reform debates of the *Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*, the *Verwaltungsakt* as core legal form has also come under scrutiny, and other legal modes of action, such as the administrative contract (*Verwaltungsvertrag*), have gained doctrinal weight. The *Verwaltungsakt* has nevertheless remained a central instrument of administrative law (Schoch 1994; Hoffmann-Riem 2012).

systematic nature of such elements that structure administrative practice.⁵⁵ A solid knowledge of the modes of action and legal consequences as well as the scope for flexibility within this legal system makes it possible to arrive at a more nuanced understanding of how the 'migrant-citizen' is produced in administrative interactions. We surmise that graduated citizenship is produced in this interplay between legal status as defined by immigration laws, the scope for autonomous concretization of norms by the executive, the specificities of legally regulated administrative modes of action, and non-regulated administrative practices. Such forms of graduated citizenship, in which legal positions are highly fragmented, temporally unstable, and to a substantial degree shaped/produced by discretion can no longer be described (either in theoretical or in doctrinal terms) with the classic image of the state-citizen relation presupposed by administrative law scholarship.⁵⁶

Administrative law not only provides a structured system of modes of state action but has also, in conjunction with constitutional law, developed a sophisticated conceptualization of individual rights to be defended from state interference. This conceptualization hinges on the legal concept of 'subjective rights' (*subjektive Rechte*). The relation between individual subjective rights on the one hand and state action on the other hand is at the heart of administrative law and of great concern to doctrinal scholarship. Subjective rights grant citizens the freedom to pursue their individual interests; they are also the prerequisite for the state to address its citizens as individual legal entities and in turn function as the basis for activating juridical control of state action. In our second composite heuristic concept we therefore juxtapose this legal concept of subjective rights with sociological and anthropological conceptualizations of subject formation.

3.3 Legal Subjectivity

Legal subjectivity, as used here, denotes the formation and self-perception of a person as a legal subject and this person's capacity to mobilize administrative law in order to protect or further what is perceived as his or her legitimate interests. Our theoretical inspirations for this composite concept once again range from legal theory and doctrinal reasoning to social science approaches. As in the previous section, we compare these two disciplinary perspectives. We prefer the concept of legal subjectivity to the notion of legal consciousness because it accentuates not only how legal knowledge is formed, but also how legal personhood emerges in the process (Coutin 2003: 51–55). Though the legal subjectivities formed by migrants in the course of their interactions with various legal orders and actors are at the core of our interest, such subjectivities cannot be fully understood without also taking into account the legal subjectivities that other participants (such as state officials, lawyers, and judges) bring to these interactions. Accordingly, these are also included in the empirical investigation. As a heuristic concept for understanding migrants as legal actors, legal subjectivity builds on graduated citizenship insofar as we surmise that the fragmented nature of

⁵⁵ German administrative law has its own fine-grained doctrinal systematization of discretion which differs from the broad notion of discretion in Anglo-American contexts (see section 3.4). Similarly, there is an elaborate doctrine of a hierarchy of normative sources that distinguishes between different types of norms according to the norm-making authority, the scope of application (general or individual case), and whether the norm is intended to have internal or external effects (Sauerland 2005; Saurer 2006). As in the case of discretion, this systematization is tied to varying degrees of judicial control. An understanding of the practical effects of this doctrinal systematization is once again imperative for studying interactions around administrative justice disputes.

⁵⁶ Maurer (2011: 175) and Schmidt-Aßmann (2006: 12–16) are – among many others – representative of this understanding of the state-citizen relation.

legal status has consequences for how migrants position themselves vis-à-vis the state and how they claim rights.

The autonomous individual as a bearer of rights and obligations forms a cornerstone of legal theory and is seen as a necessary precondition for participating in the legal system as a legal subject. It is therefore taken as given, because without it, persons do not exist as legal actors (Röhl and Röhl 2008: 356–405). The notion of the autonomous individual, which has its roots in private law, is also deeply ingrained in public and in particular in administrative law, where the doctrine of rights ad personam/subjective rights (subjektive öffentliche Rechte) constitutes the foundation of a system of legal protections.⁵⁷ According to the doctrine of subjective rights, proceedings against administrative acts can only be initiated if it can be demonstrated that a legitimate individual interest has been violated. Tying the success of administrative court actions to individual affectedness⁵⁸ decouples protection against state acts from citizenship status prima facie, as it extends legal protection to every person subjectively affected by those state actions. However, it is not always easy to determine whether a subjective right (beyond the objective binding force of law on any state action) can be established. What counts as individual interest is defined by the legislator (who explicitly creates a basis for subjective claims in each piece of sub-constitutional legislation) or defined by the courts (in the course of disputes and by way of interpretation according to the theory of protective norms (Schutznormtheorie)). A frequently quoted definition of subjective rights – the legal power granted to an individual by virtue of public law to demand a certain action (acting, tolerating, or refraining from action) from state authorities in order to realize personal goals (Maurer 2011: 173) – highlights that subjective rights only exist to the degree that they have been conceded by public law. In the case of migrants who have not yet obtained German citizenship, their subjective rights and possibilities to initiate legal proceedings against state action are thus circumscribed by the provisions of immigration law.⁵⁹ This link between subjective rights and the right to instigate legal proceedings, i.e. legal standing (Klagebefugnis) as well as determination of the merits of the claim (Begründetheit), which orients control by administrative courts towards individual rights, makes the administrative dispute process a particularly interesting site for a sociological/anthropological investigation of the legal subject.

In contrast to the position taken in legal doctrine, in the social sciences the legal subject is largely regarded as socially constructed and the term 'subjectivity' denotes this quality of the formation of

⁵⁷Constitutionally guaranteed by Art. 19(4) GG and procedural provisions in §§ 40 et seq. VwGO; see Voßkuhle and Kaiser (2009), Masing (2012).

⁵⁸ Procedurally, subjective rights have a twofold meaning: Firstly, according to § 42(2) VwGO, a suit against administrative acts is admissible only if the applicant claims to have experienced an infringement of a subjective right (this requirement applies to the types of suits listed in § 42(1) VwGO and – by analogy – to suits for performance (*Allgemeine Leistungsklage*). This so-called *locus standi* or right to instigate legal proceedings (*Klagebefugnis*) requires that the claimed infringement seems plausible. Secondly, subjective rights are crucial for determining the merits of the claim (*Begründetheit*), because according to § 113(1) VwGO the administrative action must in fact infringe the claimed right.

⁵⁹Though constitutional fundamental rights are subjective rights in the most basic legal sense (Masing 2012: 426, 442), the scope and content of subjective rights is largely specified by sub-constitutional administrative laws, and recourse can only be made to fundamental rights if the legal position of an individual is not clear according to the specific law the administrative legal process is based on. Groß (2014: 432–436) argues that both the German Federal Court and the Federal Administrative Court have been reluctant to recognize fundamental rights positions of foreigners.

a sense of the self in interaction with the environment.⁶⁰ We draw on such sociological understandings of subjectivity to assess how and to what extent interactions in the course of administrative disputes shape migrants' understandings of their rights and their capacities to mobilize rights vis-à-vis the German state.⁶¹

As we showed in the previous section, the legal statuses that migrants are granted are diverse and connected to a host of fragmenting and stratifying restrictions. Migrants' capacity to take an active role in legal situations and settings is determined to a large degree by their legal status. We therefore consider their 'legal subjectivity' to be produced within and around specific legal conflict situations. The legal subject that eventually emerges out of the specific conflict situation defines the possibilities that a migrant has as a claimant at a certain point in his or her life. It defines migrants' possible actions and duties and therefore also their possibilities for enforcing their rights in a specific conflict situation as well as in the future.

A number of sociological and anthropological research articles have recently addressed the question of legal subjectivity with regard to asylum seekers' confrontation with the legal order of the receiving countries. Sophie Arndt (2015) takes the formal legal conception of the autonomous individual as a starting point and complements it with a blend of critical, Foucauldian, and interactional constructivist approaches. Based on observations of court hearings, she finds that asylum seekers are defined as autonomous claimants according to the procedural logic of administrative law. In practice, however, representing themselves or being represented as victims and disempowered subjects often increases the chances that their need for protection will be rated credible and therefore also the probability that they will be granted asylum or refugee status. Arndt concludes that, paradoxically, self-disempowerment becomes a viable strategy for asylum seekers to enforce their subjective rights in the legal conflict situation in court.

From a Marxist perspective, Simon Behrmann (2014) also points to the reduction of autonomy and power to act that accompanies the construction of refugees and asylum seekers as legal subjects. Refugees and asylum seekers have to act as legal subjects and to develop a legal subjectivity; at the same time, they are not allowed to act as political subjects. Because refugees must claim their legal status as refugees, they are given the responsibilities of the law without the benefits that accrue to those who are also able to engage in (re)negotiating the terms of their subjectivity through politics, economic activity, etc. Therefore, they do not exist in a space of political subjectivity that would allow them to be active political subjects who are able to influence political processes. Instead they have been transformed through legal subjectification from someone deserving of protection because of their personal situation and the problems they suffered in their countries of origin into subjects who must now fulfil a set of legal criteria that often bear no relation to their suffering.

⁶⁰ There is a large and diverse body of theories of subjectivation, spanning from Marxist/(neo)-materialist (e.g. Althusser 1977; Buckel 2007: 113ff) to poststructuralist Foucauldian approaches (Foucault 1982, see also Biebricher 2009 and Cremonesi et al. 2016). Feminist scholarship and gender studies have made significant contributions to the critique of the autonomous (legal) subject (Butler 1995, 1997, see also Meißner 2010). Lastly, Bourdieu's notion of 'habitus' encompasses many of the elements that we include in the concept of legal subjectivity (Bourdieu 1987, see also Nour 2009). We draw on these theories and concepts in the manner explained above (section 3.1), but rely more heavily on ethnographically based applications of these concepts.

⁶¹ Our approach thus takes a different starting point than Susanne Baer's seminal study of the construction of subjects in German administrative law. Baer asks how shifts in the dominant concepts of the state are reflected in notions of citizenship and become enshrined in administrative law (Baer 2006). Rather than looking at and deconstructing guiding objectives in legal texts, we begin our investigation with the social practices of migrants, administrative personnel, lawyers, judges, and other involved actors.

Ethnographers such as Dominik Kohlhagen (2006) have shown that knowledge about different legal systems forms an important aspect of legal subjectivity, particularly in relation to undocumented and illegalized migrants. It is also likely that experiences with persecution or with state authorities who fail to protect individual interests in the country of origin inform a person's legal and political subjectivity. In the case of asylum seekers, crossing borders can even be read as an attempt to regain basic civil and political rights and be re-constituted as a full legal subject. Less research has been conducted regarding how legal subjectivity is formed over time in the host country along a trajectory that eventually encompasses long-term residence, a secure legal status, and possibly also naturalization. Do migrants who have German or a secure dual citizenship encounter a different set of possible consequences when taking legal actions within German administrative law? Do these migrants still perceive their position vis-à-vis the state and their legal subjectivity as insecure (even if going to court or avoiding a court case might become more of a matter of choice than of necessity, since the issue at stake no longer concerns their right to residency) because of their experiences of previous interactions with state officials? If so, how are notions of citizenship and legal subjectivity (re)produced in the intergenerational order of migrant communities or within families? These constellations will be included in our empirical research, since we surmise that after the original process of obtaining legal residence in Germany – and thus the acquisition of a more or less secure legal position – is complete, transnational ties, circular forms of mobility, and the availability of different legal forums play a more prominent role in shaping the formation of legal subjectivity in administrative disputes within Germany.⁶² In this context, social networks in their role as forums for (legal) knowledge production and exchange are of crucial relevance, since it is through these networks that experiences get produced and reproduced and that subject formation takes place (Kohlhagen 2006; Zillinger 2014; see also Eckert 2012).

Equally important and more within the reach of actual observation in the course of fieldwork are the interactions with central participating actors in diverse legal interactional settings during the course of administrative dispute processes. This leads to a broadening of the empirical gaze to the legal subjectivities brought into the dispute by other participants and the mutual co-constitution of subjectivities. In addition to the legal subjectivity that migrants develop, we therefore suggest also looking at the specific legal subjectivity assumed by legal professionals such as lawyers, judges, and state officials. Here, legal subjectivity may be more strongly influenced by training, education, and professional socialization and can be conceptualized in analogy to Bourdieu's concept of habitus (Bourdieu 1987). Adherence to doctrinal law among judges can be understood as an expression of the legal subjectivity of legal professionals influenced by the conditions of their work (Schulz-Schaeffer 2004; Stegmaier 2009). In a study of employees in German immigration offices, Tobias Eule (2014) has shown the impact of intra-office socialization into a collective body of practical knowledge. Sally Richards has analysed legal consciousness among government officials in the Refugee Review Tribunal of Australia (2015), and Marc Hertogh (2010) has pointed to the importance of empirical research that looks at front-line officials' understanding of administrative justice. There is less empirical research on the contemporary self-perception and formation of legal subjectivity among lawyers in Germany, but the few existing older studies also indicate the formative impact of professional standards and training (e.g. Rüschemeyer 1976). We therefore

⁶² These forms of transnational legal consciousness have been explored in the realm of family law by Hart, Rossum, and Sportel (2013) and with regard to migrants returning to their home country by Kubal (2012).

26

presume that the legal subjectivity of this group of professional actors is less fluid and subject to change than that of migrants and non-legal-professionals, but nevertheless open to extraprofessional influences (see next section).

Because of the formalized rules of German administrative court procedure, legal professionals hold a dominant position and influence the legal subjectivity of other non-professional actors, particularly at court hearings.⁶³ Thus, a fine-grained analysis of the formation of legal subjectivities among participating actors and the procedural rules structuring their differing possibilities of participating in legal disputes can contribute to a much better understanding of how and when migrants can raise what types of claims and mobilize administrative law. We aim to analyse how migrants as individual and collective actors with specific (albeit 'graduated') rights use and mobilize the legal protections that are offered by German administrative law when they are affected by its regulations; we will also examine how their legal subjectivity is transformed during this process. Rather than taking the individual legal subject as the foundational starting point of a doctrinal system of administrative justice, we explore the processes by which law produces migrant subjects with or without the capacity to claim rights. Assuming that law not only transforms those who use it, but is also transformed in the very process of its application, in the next section we turn to the varying margins of interpretation, scope of discretion, forms of agency, and room to manoeuvre that the actors involved might or might not be able to realize in different interactional constellations and settings structured by administrative law.

3.4 Room to Manoeuvre/Margins of Interpretation

The composite concept 'room to manoeuvre/margins of interpretation' is closely tied to the concept of legal subjectivity, yet encompasses a broader range of contextual and constituting factors that shape the relation between the migrant and the state. In its broadest sense the concept includes, first, those margins of interpretation and possibilities for agency that are contained in administrative law (procedural rights as well as the gradations of status in immigration law) and second, the room to manoeuvre that actors claim in negotiations about citizenship and access to rights when they participate in legal conflict situations.

Following this broad understanding, margins of interpretation and scope for agency can be mobilized both within and outside the formal legal frame of administrative law. As in the previous section, the interactionist approach calls for investigating the scope of agency of all involved actors, because room to manoeuvre, margins of interpretation, and various forms of agency are co-constituted in interactional settings. As will become clearer in the remainder of this section, margins of interpretation are regarded as either elements inbuilt in the legal system (such as administrative and judicial discretion) or deviations from the legally defined 'script' or role that is to be played. Depending on the context, on the actors involved in courtrooms and other settings connected with the administrative process, and on the material and symbolic resources they can mobilize, however, the possibilities for agency and room to manoeuvre, as well as the uses of margins of interpretation, may structurally differ.

In the following, the composite heuristic concept will be presented in more detail with reference to four groups of actors central for this study, namely:

⁶³ Procedural law as such exerts a significant structural force on the formation of legal subjectivity since it predefines the scope of action of the claimant. This becomes most obvious when procedural rights are restricted, as in the case of asylum law (Gärditz 2011); see also section 3.5.

- migrants,
- state officials,
- lawyers and legal aid workers,
- judges at administrative and social courts.

With regards to migrants' claims, this concept asks what types of agency, room to manoeuvre, or margins of interpretation actors involved in a legal conflict situation have that enable them to contest, redefine, and/or transform their ascribed legal status during bureaucratic processes and interactions with state officials and legal professionals. In examining the relation between the migrant and the state, we ask how migrants can move from rights and obligations enshrined in legal status – as specified by immigration and naturalization laws or other subfields of administrative law - to ascribed or self-assumed legal subjectivity and further to margins of interpretation and room to manoeuvre in terms of substantive issues as well as procedural rights. Existing socio-legal and ethnographic literature describes such strategies of migrants mostly in the context of interactions with immigration bureaucracies but also with regard to judicial settings and the claiming of rights outside of administrative-legal settings. Several middle-range concepts have been formed that we subsume under our notion of 'room to manoeuvre/margins of interpretation'. Referring to the field of immigration law in general, Tuckett (2015) employs the term 'navigation' to describe how migrants skilfully navigate the Italian immigration bureaucracy by traversing the boundary between legality and illegality and by making use of loopholes in the frequently changing and highly complex laws. Schuster (2005) points to 'status mobility' as a strategy of migrants to secure future life goals by shifting between different types of residence permit and legal status. In an observational study of court hearings, Arndt (2015) analyses the strategies of 'representational selfmanagement' applied by asylum seekers when objecting to the rejection of their asylum requests. Here, margins of interpretation are produced in-between the sphere of actual courtroom interaction and institutionally prescribed procedural structures. Strategic self-management in this context is a strategy in which migrants either take on the role of an autonomous legal subject or employ the role of a passive victim by playing on the existence of a certain 'refugeeness' (see also Graham 2002). Scope for action is also available to migrants in the possibility of 'forum shopping'. We adopt this concept from the legal pluralism debate (Benda-Beckmann 1981); in our context it can mean, for example, mobilizing global norms or legal norms from other countries as part of claim-making through transnational legal consciousness (Schwenken 2013). Studies on the impact of national and European immigration laws on migrant collectives, behaviours, and individual social status either in the host country or upon return to the country of origin (Kohlhagen 2006; Kubal 2012) also demonstrate that room to manoeuvre with respect to one's legal position might arise from these transnational constellations. Finally, while not always easy to observe, strategies such as collective activism by migrants (e.g. refugee protests) and avoidance of state officials or the move into informality, semi-legality, or 'illegality' can figure as strategies used by migrants when their aspirations and individual life plans are hindered by the regulations of administrative law. Both the structural limitations and the transformative potential of such forms of claiming rights have also been described ethnographically and analysed conceptually (Ataç 2016; Caglar 2016; Bhimji 2016; Basok 2010; Kubal 2013; Ataç, Rygiel and Stierl 2016); they, too, form part of our concept of room to manoeuvre/margins of interpretation.

Analysing the margins of interpretation of administrative personnel requires taking into account the elaborate procedural regulations of German administrative law. Thus, literature on discretionary autonomy (e.g. Lipsky 1980; Evans 2010) is of interest for this study. In a similar vein, studies that examine how professional knowledge about migrants, and especially asylum seekers, is constructed and then acted upon, as well as studies that analyse the communication structures that shape distinct sub-cultures of bureaucratic personnel and their influence on individual decision-making processes, are interesting approaches for empirically tracing how margins of interpretation might expand or shrink in certain interactional settings (Jubany 2011; Marx 2012; Eule 2014; Affolter 2017). However, even though these studies show that front-line encounters between administrative practitioners and migrants with a variety of legal statuses are shaped by complex processes of opinion and knowledge formation, negotiation, and discretionary autonomy, the finely graduated system of procedural regulations built into German administrative law also needs to be understood in its own right as part of a doctrinal system that has binding effects. In the German context, the use of indeterminate legal concepts (unbestimmte Rechtsbegriffe) in those parts of a norm that describe the facts of the case (Tatbestand) and the procedural regulation of discretion (Ermessen) in those parts of the norm that determine the legal consequences (*Rechtsfolgen*) are particularly relevant. These two elements define the margins of interpretation offered by law to state officials and influence the decision-making processes in local offices that deal with migrants' claims.⁶⁴ We incorporate this doctrinal systematization of discretion with its diverse implications for legal action and its forms of judicial control⁶⁵ when investigating the decision-making processes of administrative personnel. We postulate that the increased degree of legally mandated discretion (as well as informal discretionary practices) that has been observed in the realm of immigration law (Groß 2014: 427-428; Eule 2014) also leads to an increase in face-to-face encounters between migrants and state officials.⁶⁶ In light of this observation, an empirical relational analysis of migrant-state interactions is all the more important, and the relationship between the migrant and 'the state' as it is rationalized by administrative law serves as a fruitful theoretical entry point for our analysis.

The discretionary practices and autonomy of judges are similarly important factors when reflecting on possible margins of interpretation within courtroom interactions. In the (socio-)legal literature, margins of interpretation have been located either in the interpretation and applications of norms (*Norminterpretation*) or in the manner in which the facts of the case are determined (*Tatbestandsermittlung*).⁶⁷ Recent empirical studies such as Stegmaier (2009) include perspectives

⁶⁴ Legal actions falling under these concepts are addressed extensively in the doctrinal administrative law literature. The Federal Constitutional Court has declared indeterminate legal concepts to be constitutional as long as they remain within a general principle of determinacy as mandated by the principle of rule of law. There are, however, different opinions in doctrinal scholarship regarding the scope of judicial control of these indeterminate legal concepts: the Federal Administrative Court, for example, has argued for full judicial control; see Maurer (2011: 141–169) and Gerhard (2016). On discretion in migration and asylum law more specifically, see Eichenhofer (2014: 777–778) and Groß (2014). For a conceptual discussion from a socio-legal perspective, see Schweitzer (2015).

⁶⁵ Judicial control of discretion extends to the examination of errors of assessment (*Ermessensfehler*).

⁶⁶ Generally, appearance in person is required for the extension of any residence permit. In asylum law, refugees are legally required to cooperate in the asylum determination procedure as well as in their removal should the asylum claim be rejected. This duty to cooperate extends to the obligation to appear in person before authorities when asked to do so. Applications for social benefits during and after the asylum determination procedure involve further face-to-face contacts with state officials. Many of these contacts are mediated by social workers, volunteers, and support organizations, so that the boundary between state and non-state actors can become blurred.

⁶⁷ See the extensive debate on judges' scope of autonomy in the interpretation of norms which developed around the notions of *Richterrecht*, i.e. the judge-made law (Bumke 2012 with further references) in doctrinal law scholarship. Legal sociology has contributed important insights into how professional identity formation and organizational context influence the process of determining the facts of a case.

from the sociology of knowledge and focus on complex processes of 'negotiations' around individual cases, with the file being their constitutive factor. Similarly, studies on judges' professional identity formation that conceptualize law as an interactive social phenomenon shaped by and shaping its professionals (e.g. Berndt 2010) are crucial for understanding the different judicial approaches towards margins of interpretation and the use of this in the context of courtroom settings. At hearings - in particular during the assessment of evidence in asylum adjudication hearings - professionals' explicit and implicit stereotypes and their inherent expectations, self-perceptions, and worldviews can potentially significantly influence the development and outcome of the interactional dynamics within court rooms (Kobelinsky 2015). On a more aggregate level, the jurisprudential practices of courts – especially higher, but sometimes also first-instance courts – can either narrow or broaden the margins of interpretation that lower judges can exercise in subsequent cases. In particular, judges in first-instance courts are said to preemptively anticipate responses by higher courts. Hence, when they encourage a settlement, conduct courtroom interactions, or reason their decisions with an eye towards potential appeals, they exercise a self-imposed restraint. That judicial decision-making has effects beyond the legal proceeding and thereby indirectly affects the margins of interpretation that are available to the involved parties in successive cases has also been demonstrated with regard to the regulation of migration (Wijkhuijs 2007; Bonjour 2016).

For insight into to the role of lawyers who represent migrants in administrative disputes, literature on legal activism is of further interest for this study. Thus, studies of cause lawyering and strategic litigation as a political and social practice are particularly significant. Their insights need to be applied to migrants' claims and the role of lawyers in mobilizing rights and transforming claims into legal action in the specific German legal context. Cause lawyering as established in the socio-legal literature by Sarat and Scheingold (1998, 2001) describes the use of law that goes beyond a merely functionalist/instrumentalist definition and enters the realm of the political and social sphere. In this sense, cause lawyering connects legal practice with the moral and political convictions of lawyers themselves, thereby turning it into a 'public profession' (see also Krishnan 2006: 577; Marshall and Hale 2014).⁶⁸ While the concept of cause lawyering initially focused on the political convictions held by lawyers and how these shaped their professional practice, the twin concepts of 'strategic litigation' and 'public interest litigation' have increasingly been taken up in social movement research to study how individual court cases are strategically constructed and used to achieve a larger sociopolitical impact. These studies are often situated in the field of political science and focus on larger (political, social, or legal) opportunity structures and the framing of public discourses (Sarat and Scheingold 2006; McCann 2006; McCammon and McGrath 2015). Leila Kawar's historical and comparative study of legal activism in the field of immigration policy in the United States and France combines these two strands and demonstrates that the ability to achieve socio-legal change by means of legal activism is historically contingent and context-specific (Kawar 2015, see also Kawar 2012). Recent anthropological works have contributed a microlevel perspective that highlights the important role of not only lawyers but also legal aid organizations as intermediaries (James and Forbess 2014; Cabot 2014). They ethnographically demonstrate how lawyers build (strategic) ties to legal aid organizations, administrative personnel, judges, and interpreters who facilitate their work and thereby influence the outcome of disputes. Following this, the role of intermediaries, legal aid organizations, or other

⁶⁸ See Müller (2011) on this phenomenon in Germany.

forms of service providers for legal (and social aid) is crucial for rights' mobilization and the transformation of ordinary demands/private interests into legal terms/public claims (McDermont 2013). Lawyers, legal professionals, social workers, and volunteers in legal aid organizations play an important role in preparing their clients for courtroom interactions and bureaucratic encounters, informing clients about rights and procedures and (trans)forming the clients' and their own legal subjectivities. Thus, they might draw their clients towards margins of interpretation, strategically manoeuvre their narratives into claims that stretch bureaucratic structures, or guide them into taking legal action.

Harking back to our initial premise that law transforms those who use it but is also transformed in the very process of its application, and having developed the composite concept 'room to manoeuvre/margins of interpretation' to examine those moments in which reinterpretation and reinscription of legal norms becomes potentially possible, we now turn to conceptualizing how this affects perceptions and practices of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* among the actors involved in administrative disputes.

3.5 Notions of Rechtsstaatlichkeit

With our last concept, 'notions of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*', we aim to trace transformations of the perception and practice of administrative law, as well as the shifts in notions of statehood that accompany this. Since this last composite heuristic concept builds on an empirically saturated refinement of the previous concepts that will be undertaken as part of ongoing fieldwork, it is not yet as clearly defined at this point.⁶⁹

To briefly recapitulate: We expect that the concept 'graduated citizenship' will allow us to empirically capture the interplay between the highly fragmented set of legal statuses available to migrants and the markers of difference that become relevant in administrative categorization practices. 'Legal subjectivity' then focuses our attention on the understandings that migrants (and other actors participating in the dispute process) hold regarding their own legal capacities and status. 'Room to manoeuvre/margins of interpretation' directs our attention to spaces for manoeuvring (including individual strategies as well as structural possibilities/restraints) between legal statuses, administrative categories, and self-ascribed or attributed legal subjectivities. 'Perceptions of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*' finally shifts the empirical gaze to the reverse side of the statecitizen relation: from legal subjectivity and graduated citizenship to the state and administrative law as its functional order. This concept will allow us to ask, firstly, what kinds of understandings of the German state under the rule of law emerge as a result of interactions during and in connection with the administrative dispute. And secondly, it will allow us to trace the transformations that emerge when negotiations of concrete administrative practices and norms and evolving understandings of legality among the involved actors are viewed from a more aggregated and diachronic perspective.

With this investigation of how *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*, as one of, if not the core ordering principle of administrative law, is practiced and negotiated in interactions between migrants, state officials, lawyers/legal aid organizations, and judges, we perform a decentreing move with regard to migration and integration research as described in the introduction. We move from a focus on

⁶⁹ But see Gehrig (2004) for a similar argument on how *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* and its counterpart 'illegality' are constituted through administrative application of legal categories. Her argument is based on ethnographic research among Afghan asylum seekers in Hamburg.

migrants as social actors attempting to realize their visions of life in Germany to a focus on the doctrinal ideas, legal instantiations of these ideas, and normative practices that undergird contemporary statehood in Germany. As in the previous sections, we develop this *composite* heuristic concept through a process of juxtaposing legal and social science concepts and debates.

German public law scholarship commonly regards the principle of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* as a central pillar of modern European statehood, though it acknowledges different national traditions (Hofmann 1995; Grimm 2009). Although the German constitution, the Grundgesetz (GG), explicitly mentions the principle of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*/rule of law only in two articles (Art. 23(1) und Art. 28(1) GG) and does not provide a definition of the principle itself, German public law scholarship has developed an elaborate doctrinal reasoning around it (e.g. Sobota 1997; Schmidt-Aßmann 2004). In standard legal commentaries, the principle of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*/rule of law is defined as the aggregate of all the constitutional norms and institutions that contribute to this principle (e.g. Scholz 2016). Its main elements are the division of power, the protection of human dignity and the guarantee of individual basic rights, the binding of the state to the law (Vorbehalt und Vorrang des Gesetzes), and access to courts (Rechtsschutzgarantie), as well as the principle of proportionality (Verhältnismäßigkeit) and the principle of legitimate expectations (Vertrauensschutz). The principle of Rechtsstaatlichkeit is further concretized in the realm of general administrative law. Procedural safeguards and legal remedies (such as the right to instigate legal proceedings, the right to be heard, and the right to a preliminary injunction) are contained in both state administrative laws and the federal Administrative Procedure Act VwVfG) and Code of Administrative Court Procedure (Verwaltungsverfahrensgesetz – (Verwaltungsgerichtsordnung - VwGO). Field-specific modifications of these provisions can be found in the sectoral laws governing specific subfields of administrative law. They are particularly pronounced in the field of asylum and immigration law, where in many instances the procedural step of pre-judicial objection has been removed, deadlines for submission substantially shortened, and the possibilities of appeal limited. Some authors (e.g. Gärditz 2011) go so far as to call asylum law an exceptional field of administrative procedural law (Sonderverwaltungsprozessrecht).

Despite dispersed manifestations of the principle of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* in legal norms and modifications of it in some subfields of administrative law, public law scholars consistently describe it as an encompassing net of interrelated provisions that form a core underlying structural principle of the German constitutional state;⁷⁰ this makes it a particularly intriguing starting point for anthropologists interested in the interplay between (cultural) representations and actual practices of statehood. As outlined in section 2.3, the (new) anthropology of the state has developed a strong focus on studying images and practices of statehood in postcolonial contexts. These ethnographic studies demonstrated that (often disenfranchised) citizens participate – through their everyday encounters with state officials – in the constructions of powerful discourses on bureaucracy, politics, and statehood (e.g. Gupta 1995; Nuijten 2003; Paley 2008; Gupta 2012). These discourses – or to use another often-used term, cultural representations – of the state were regarded as significant because they could be related back to state practices; they were then used to make an argument against the universal validity of the rational Weberian state and for a theoretical

⁷⁰ Public law scholarship speaks of a core principle structuring German constitutional statehood (*Staatsstrukturprinizip*); the quality of an interdependent fabric of legal norms and doctrinal interpretations is emphasized by Schmidt-Aßmann, who writes of an '*umgreifenden Wirkungszusammenhang*' (2006: 47) and of '*Rechtsstaatlichkeit als Struktur*' (2006: 80).

reconceptualization of statehood (Hansen and Stepputat 2001; Krohn-Hansen and Nustad 2005; Migdal and Schlichte 2005).

Few ethnographic studies, however, directly address the notion of rule of law or *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*. In an early publication Nader and Mattei (2008) critically investigate the ideology of rule of law in the expansion of global capitalism, but they do not specifically address the citizen-state relation. More relevant to our argument about the co-construction of notions of rule of law by citizens in the course of interactions with courts, though not ethnographic in its approach, is Upendra Baxi's (2004) dissection of the rule-of-law discourse in India. Socio-legal scholars, too, have only recently begun to call for an empirical investigation of conceptions of rule-of-law (Krygier 2009; Hertogh 2013, 2016). So far, most legal scholars, as well as political and social scientists, have been concerned with defining thin or thick rule-of-law instruments to other contexts (Grimm 2009; Palombella and Walker 2009; Schulze-Fielitz 2011, Humphreys 2012; Kötter and Schuppert 2014). Current transformations of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* in Germany (or other European countries) as they evolve through social practices, everyday interactions, and the ascription of new meanings by different actors in an increasingly pluralized society remain a blind spot within both legal and anthropological research.

We therefore plead for looking ethnographically at actual rule-of-law practices and their relation to rule-of-law perceptions in the German context of administrative law. Approaching rule of law as practiced upon those that are among the most vulnerable and marginalized (as we have shown, migrants' legal status is often fragmented and temporarily unstable, and even after achieving a secure legal status they are still at risk of being discriminated against) is likely to throw into sharp relief the tensions, contradictions, and negotiations that take place within the overall assemblage of rule-of-law elements. From such a perspective the doctrinal construction of Rechtsstaatlichkeit as a Staatsstrukturprinzip and underlying ordering principle of administrative law can be reconceptualized as the product of social interactions and ascriptions of (contested) meanings by different actors. It then becomes an empirical question whether the co-produced perceptions of rule of law that emerge through interactions remain dispersed, fragmented discourses and social practices, or whether, on the contrary, they have a cumulative or incremental transformative effect on the established legal order (geltende Rechtsordnung) precisely because of their embeddedness in social practices and interactions. Should the latter be the case, these transformations would then have to be taken into account in a critical normative (re)assessment of uneven levels of rule of law and diverging rule-of-law standards in the various subfields of administrative law.

4 Methodological Choices and Research Design

By juxtaposing legal concepts from German administrative law such as 'citizen', 'subjective rights', 'discretion', and 'rule of law' with social science concepts derived from earlier qualitative social research, we have taken the former apart and opened a space for reconsidering the underlying doctrinal reasoning in light of new meanings derived from the interactive and relational negotiation of administrative law. We now turn to key methodological choices that allow us to

 $^{^{71}}$ A formal understanding– i.e. thin conception – of rule of law refers to situations in which the principle of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* is realized by means of mere formal, e.g. procedural guarantees of the aforementioned elements; when substantive values such as fundamental rights or the welfare state are subsumed under the principle of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit*, a substantive understanding – i.e. thick conception – is applied (Tamanaha 2012: 91–113).

apply these reconfigured composite heuristic concepts to our own field research in such a way as to generate answers to the initial research questions.

While classically geared towards "[grasping] the native's point of view, his relation to life, [realising] his vision of the world" (Malinowski 1922: 25) in non-Western societies, today ethnographic fieldwork is applied as a method for collecting data and generating middle-range theoretical concepts in a wide variety of settings and in combination with a range of epistemic orientations and research questions. Nevertheless, participant observation remains a core method, complemented by various forms of interviewing, collection of written documents (and sometimes also audio and visual records), techniques for surveying and mapping social relations, socioeconomic conditions, or other relevant structural features, and more recently, participatory and collaborative forms of data generation (Beer 2008; Holmes and Marcus 2008).

In our own fieldwork, we draw on these techniques in a manner that Breidenstein et al. (2013: 34) have called 'field-specific methodical opportunism', meaning that we will make use of conversation analysis, interviewing, document analysis, the mapping of social networks, and other techniques depending on what is possible in a given situation and most suitable for answering our research questions.⁷² Working in a team and carrying out fieldwork 'at home', we have opted for a research design in which periods of data collection through immersion in different social fields alternate with periods of joint analysis and reflection that are partially carried out in collaboration with a variety of actors. Our adaptation of the classic model of ethnographic fieldwork and our commitment to a methodical opportunism should not, however, be misunderstood as resulting in an arbitrary manner of conducting research: three core methodological choices guide our fieldwork – a processual approach, an interactionist-relational perspective, and a reflexive mode. In the concluding paragraphs, we explain how these translate into an integrated methodological approach.

4.1 The Processual Approach: situational analysis, extended case study, and conflict phases

The processual approach derives from our interest in the dynamics of socio-legal transformation. Within this frame, we make use of various traditions of data collection and analysis that are all geared towards capturing social change at the micro-level; we then generate middle-range theory/theoretical concepts from this particular vantage point. These traditions include: the ethnomethodogical study of interactions in professional settings (developed largely within sociology), the extended case method (a classic research frame for collecting and analysing data in legal anthropology), and the model of conflict phases (taken from the socio-legal study of disputing in the context of formal court systems).

Centred around the observation of face-to-face interactions, the ethnomethodological approach and the related conversation analysis illuminate how professional and non-professional actors perform social conventions and professional norms in individual situations; this microsocial work is often taken for granted und thus remains invisible. There is a rich body of studies on courtroom hearings and on lawyer-client interactions (see section 2.3, fn. 25) from which we draw techniques of observing, documenting, and analysing interactions between administrative judges and the participating parties in courtroom hearings, exchanges in law offices and legal aid organizations, and encounters between migrants and state officials in bureaucratic settings.

⁷² Other authors, leaning towards a slightly more positivist understanding of the employment of qualitative methods as part of a research design, prefer to speak of a 'mixed-method approach' (Nielsen 2012). As we emphasize the generation of middle-range theoretical concepts through the creative process of doing ethnographic fieldwork in which participant observation is central to grasping meanings as they emerge in social practice, we do not adopt this terminology.

The extended case study method, as developed by Jaap van Velsen, Max Gluckman, and other members of the so-called Manchester School of British Social Anthropology, also starts with the observation of individual situations but focuses on ethnographically tracing conflicts over time across a series of events/situations and within evolving networks of social relations (see van Velsen 1967; Gluckman 1940; Barnard 2000: 84–87; Kempny 2006: 180–201; Werbner 1984: 157–185). Gluckman had a strong interest in social change, and his focal points of analysis included the role of conflicts within such processes of social change and how they related to maintaining social orders. Analytically, the extended case method calls for examining a combination of empirical details and structural regularities, which implies an approach in which there is a dialectical relationship between empirical data and theory-building (Evens and Handelman 2006: 1–13; Gluckman 2006: 13–22). In our study we will collect cases related to migrants' claims vis-à-vis the state through fieldwork in four different settings (see section 4.2), with a focus on selected fields of special administrative law. We will observe actors and the cases they constitute in interconnected webs of face-to-face encounters while also taking into account the differentially structured contexts in and through which they move.

Lastly, we follow Felstiner, Abel, and Sarat's (1981) classic contribution to the study of disputing by analytically distinguishing between distinct stages in the emergence and transformation of a dispute. This frame allows us to trace how disputes between the state and migrant/citizens emerge, are interpreted, and are resolved; it also allows us to observe how networks of actors come into being or are affected by different phases of a conflict. In line with Felstiner, Abel, and Sarat we distinguish between the stages of 'naming', 'blaming', and 'claiming', but adapt these to the specific context of administrative disputes. We take the first stage, 'naming', to be a conflict situation between a migrant and an administrative body which has made some decision that the migrant considers to be problematic (i.e. naming this as a perceived injustice) but where he/she might nevertheless decide against taking any action. In the second stage of conflict, 'blaming', a migrant has decided to contact a lawyer or a legal aid organization and he/she files a prejudicial objection or submits a case at the administrative court (thus blaming a state body). The third phase, 'claiming', then consists of the actual trial and the court's verdict (by which the migrant either successfully claims his/her right or the administrative body's original decision is reaffirmed). To this model we add a fourth phase, which comprises the (inter)actions that follow upon a court decision (i.e. the implementation of the decision on the side of administrative bodies, the decision of the migrant to appeal at a higher court, or the setting of a precedent by judges). This fourth stage is where we locate the most visible form of transformative dynamics for the existing legal order. In each phase we allow for the possibility that the conflict is taken out of the juridical setting and pursued in other forums not or only partially determined by German administrative law.

While some authors argue that ethnomethodology and the extended case study method privilege different explanatory models for the causal link between situated social (inter)action and external forces or structural regularities and are therefore, in principle, incompatible with each other (e.g. Burawoy 1991), others have developed composite approaches for linking individual events to larger processes (e.g. Thomas Scheffer with his proposal for a transequential analysis: see Scheffer 2007, 2015). We believe that – though they evolved out of specific methodological traditions – these processual, microsociological heuristics and their techniques for data collection and analysis can be fruitfully combined in order to trace socio-legal change. Drawing on these different traditions of data collection and analysis directs our fieldwork towards the following foci:
observing the production and negotiation of normative meanings in individual situations/encounters; tracing the consolidation or transformation of such normative meanings in social practice through a series of events in interconnected webs of social relations that are shaped by and shape the larger social context; and, finally, comparing the consolidation or transformation of social practices and normative meanings across changing situations, different phases of a dispute, and various legal fields.

This heuristic frame also allows us to answer our more specific research questions: We can identify, first, those moments in the disputing process in which migrants mobilize or do not mobilize administrative law and/or other normative orders, and, second, the conditions under which they can or cannot do so. Third, we look at the effects that interactions with other actors involved in their lawsuit have on their legal subjectivity and their perceptions of statehood under the rule of law (*Rechtsstaatlichkeit*). And finally, we can observe the changes in legal practice and notions of rule of law that evolve in interactions and negotiations among participating actors.

Tracing administrative dispute processes and their effects in this manner requires consciously selecting settings in which to observe interactions, as well as conceptualizing what connects different settings and field sites. We therefore complement the processual approach with a relational perspective in order to conceptually link a variety of field settings and sites of observation.

4.2 The Relational Perspective: settings, semi-autonomous social fields, and webs of relations

Although our initial empirical point of entry was disputes adjudicated at administrative courts between migrants and administrative bodies, we do not limit our fieldwork to this setting. Instead we take heed of methodological debates regarding the nature of the 'field' in ethnographic research and understand the field as constituted by the research process as well as by the involved actors.⁷³ Thus we focus our attention on the different groups of actors that are involved in administrative court cases and follow these actors into their lifeworlds. Besides the administrative or social court, other important interactional settings in which we conduct fieldwork are migrant organizations, migrants' lifeworlds and other relevant social contexts, administrative bodies, and law offices or legal aid organizations. During fieldwork it will become apparent how central these settings are for our research and whether they need to be complemented by other settings and sets of actors.⁷⁴ Shadowing these actors in the manner suggested by Barbara Czarniawska for doing fieldwork in modern societies (Czarniawska 2007) will help us to gain insight into the webs of social relations and to determine to what extent they constitute semiautonomous social fields in Sally Falk Moore's sense. Moore has argued that the semiautonomous social field is a suitable way of defining areas and sites for conducting social anthropological research in complex societies. According to her, such a field is defined less by its organizational or social boundaries but by the fact that it "can generate rules and coerce or induce compliance" (Moore 1973: 742). Using this conceptual frame,

⁷³ The basic theoretical premises of the classic model of stationary fieldwork in locations that are geographically distant and separated from the researchers' home base have been challenged (Gupta and Ferguson 1997), and various alternative methodologies and conceptualizations of the field have been put forward. To name a few, 'urban ethnography' (Sanjek 2000) was developed as an answer to the move from island/village studies to urban field sites, 'anthropology at home' (Jackson 1987) aimed to turn the researcher's gaze towards his/her own society, 'multi-sited ethnography' (Marcus 1995) has been advocated as a means to capture forces of globalization, and 'transnational social fields' (Glick-Schiller, Bass and Blanc-Szanton 1997) has been proposed as the appropriate unit of research for ethnographic migration research.

⁷⁴ If other actors, such as interpreters, informal advice-givers, or professional bodies, become relevant for our research, they will be approached in the same manner. For the central role of interpreters in asylum determination and adjudication see Scheffer (1997) and Gibb and Good (2014).

the ethnographer's attention is directed to "the connection between the internal workings of a social field and its points of articulation with a larger setting" (Moore 1973: 742). In our fieldwork, the notion of semi-autonomy highlights the fact that such social fields might coincide with specific institutional settings or be structured by the specific field of administrative law in which a dispute takes place, but that they are also likely to cut across such formal structures to encompass the realm of the informal, semi-legal, or illegal and to reach beyond the German context to include other national and transnational points of normative reference.

Keeping this in mind, asylum and immigration law, as subfields of German administrative law with their substantial modifications of rules and procedures of general administrative law, can be presumed to be of central importance to recently arrived migrants and those who have not yet achieved a secure legal status. For migrants who have a secure legal status or German citizenship (2nd or 3rd generation), other subfields of administrative law such as business regulations, social law, or education and police laws become increasingly relevant. Here again, field-specific modifications structure legal proceedings, institutional settings, and social interactions within these settings and may generate different transformative dynamics. The degree to which they do so nevertheless remains a question for empirical study. Our research therefore aims to assess the role of specific administrative law regulations in predetermining legal subjectivities and perceptions of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* and the ways that other norms emerging from within migrant communities and broader fields of social life (that are being (re)produced and negotiated in relational webs) intersect with and impact these subjectivities and normativities.

With a view to the transnational dimension, it has been noted that not only migrants, but increasingly also state officials and lawyers/legal aid organizations act in and through transnational networks and draw on various normative meanings and logics of governance (Lahusen 2016; Tsourdi 2016). National immigration policies are, moreover, shaped by the jurisprudence of the European Courts, so that judges, too, make their decisions in a multi-level field of jurisprudence (Psychogiopoulou 2014). Again, observing how professional actors navigate in and across these different scales by building communities of practice or social networks (in which legal experiences and information are exchanged, legal knowledge is co-produced, and legally relevant situations and documentation are negotiated) will allow us to better understand how legal subjectivities and notions of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit* emerge in semiautonomous social fields that extend across national borders.

In this manner, the transformation of German administrative law can be empirically studied beyond the limits of methodological nationalism and without preconceived notions of what constitutes proper settings for studying transformative dynamics in German administrative law. When webs of social relations and semiautonomous social fields replace the notion of studying a bounded, spatially and topically predefined field, the social position of the researcher within this field and the social relations he or she builds in the course of research as a means to generate data become a matter for methodological consideration. We reflect upon this in the following section.

4.3 The Reflexive Mode: positionality, inequality, and critique

In ethnographic fieldwork, the researcher uses his or her own person as the instrument to generate data. Interviewing consists of communicative interactions and participant observation is based on gaining access to interlocutors' social networks and actively developing social relations of one's own among different sets of actors (who, in our research, are more often than not antagonistically

positioned in the administrative dispute). Not surprisingly, much methodological discussion in anthropology has therefore concerned the researcher's negotiation of fieldwork relations and his or her positionality. Resulting from the reflexive turn in the 1980s, positionality denotes the conscious and self-reflexive attempt to shed light on the power relations that shape a researcher's interactions with the persons he or she works with and to assess how these affect the kind of information that can be gathered. The term positionality also refers to the subjective experiences, worldviews, and epistemic assumptions that the ethnographer brings to the field and how one's own subjectivity affects the interpretation of collected data. Having made the legal subjectivities of actors in our field of study a cornerstone of our analytical interest, we now come full circle by turning our attention to the researcher's subjectivity, which in our case is shaped by more than one disciplinary framework as well as the particularities of doing fieldwork 'at home'.

With regard to the disciplinary frameworks we draw on, we can identify different notions of reflexivity: whereas migration and integration research, socio-legal studies and legal anthropology/the anthropology of the state link reflexivity to an epistemic frame that critically questions existing power structures and points to social inequality as a source as well as a result of exclusionary regimes of governance (Mecheril et al. 2013; Frankenberg 2009; Buckel 2016; Marcus and Fischer 1986), no such conjunction of critical and reflexive traditions has developed within the (new) administrative law scholarship, which generally tends to be more affirmative of existing structures of state rule (Schulze-Fielitz 2013: 21–23). Here, reflexivity seems to hinge less on questions of representation and unequal relations of power, but is primarily understood as concerning the relation between doctrinal scholarship as the discipline's 'proprium' and the opening towards other disciplines (Hilgendorf and Schulze-Fielitz 2015: 1–2). Before returning to the question of reflexivity in administrative law scholarship, we therefore begin with an examination of how the researcher's positionality and subjectivity has been dealt with in critical ethnographic migration research.

Nicolas de Genova (2016) has highlighted the ambivalences surrounding the quest for a 'native's point of view' in anthropological migration research. Alongside lingering tendencies to understand migrants as either 'dislocated' or 'mobile' natives, he observes a lack of acknowledgement of the problematic effects that the researcher's position as a native (i.e. national citizen) doing research in his or her own (migrant-receiving) country has on the ethnographic encounter (de Genova 2016: 228-229). Even if the anthropologist champions him- or herself as a defender of migrants' rights (as many do), his or her own politico-juridical status as a citizen constitutes a privileged relation to the state. Doing research from this inverse vantage point of nativeness without making it part of the analysis risks, in de Genova's view, re-inscribing into the ethnographic encounter the global inequalities captured in immigration policies and border regimes. It also contributes to reproducing the "migrant" as an object of study while leaving unexamined the inequality at the heart of an understanding of citizenship that constructs it as membership in a nation state (ibid.: 235). Hence his programmatic call that "[f]or an anthropology of migration to be able to grasp anything of the celebrated 'native's point of view' of disciplinary legend - to be able, in other words, to apprehend the critical perspectives and lived experiences of migrants – the anthropologist-as-native is now compelled to systematically repudiate his own 'native's point of view', the self-evident standpoint of the 'native', that is the epistemic burden of his birthright" (ibid.). How does one do this? In his answer, de Genova shifts away from the immediate ethnographic encounter to an aggregated theoretical position: "A truly critical anthropology of migration must", according to

him, "be capacious enough to *theorize* migration" in terms of transnational class politics as well as in terms of a global postcolonial politics of race – both transposed into ostensibly national immigration policies and politics of citizenship (ibid.: 236). This shift from the anthropologist-asnative who is to apprehend the lived experiences of migrants in direct ethnographic encounters to a critical anthropology of migration which provides a theoretical antidote to the anthropologist's 'epistemic burden of citizenship' curiously relegates the ethnographic encounter (together with the knowledge produced therein) to a secondary position in regard to critical theorizing.

Another strand of critical migration research in German academia, known under the heading of the 'autonomy of migration' approach, has argued along a similar line.⁷⁵ They propose using the creative and self-determined aspect of autonomy that lies in the very mobility of migrants and their subjective hopes for a better life as the vantage point from which to study a securitized but flexible border regime; this, they suggest, helps to resist the danger of taking a state regulatory perspective and the researcher's legal status as a citizen of this state as an un-interrogated base line. Methodologically, they advocate an ethnographic border regime analysis (Hess and Tsianos 2010; see also Bojadzijev and Karakavali 2007) to bring to light and critically examine the complex, porous, and stratified (b)ordering logics of multi-level European Union border control and management – logics that are increasingly also pushed into diverse administrative contexts within the nation states, thereby reenforcing the underlying classifications (Hess and Lebuhn 2014; Bojadzijev and Römhild 2014: 20–21). While critics of this approach have pointed out that it risks romanticizing migrants' scope for self-determined agency in the face of state regulation (Schwenken and Benz 2005; Scheel 2015), we read it first of all as a methodological intervention. As such, it helps us to clarify our own approach. Sabine Hess and Vassilis Tsianos (2010) present a sophisticated proposal for blending a theoretical perspective – a regime theory that foreshadows de Genova's call for theorizing transnational class politics as well as the global postcolonial politics of race – with an activist self-understanding of the researcher, who fully and consciously aligns heror himself with the migrants' perspective and - through mobile, multi-sited research techniques in border zones understood as spaces of negotiation - extracts him- or herself from the situated research position of the home nation state (Hess and Tsianos 2010: 252–260). Much as we do, they insist that the research field must emerge during the research process and that the analysis of discursive constructions must be complemented with an analysis of situated and interactively negotiated social practices. At close reading, however, the methodological choice of an activist position aligned with a perspective that starts from migrants' acts of border-crossing also poses some dangers. Unwittingly, the researcher's home fades from view as a site of ethnographic encounters, as do interactions with the ethnographer's co-nationals who internally co-produce and implement the classificatory distinctions that undergird external border regimes. When regime analysis becomes a matter of the ethnographer being confronted with his or her own subjectivity in encounters taking place in border zones at the periphery of Europe, the persons encountered as others, perhaps unsurprisingly, turn out to be primarily migrants (Hess and Tsianos 2010: 257-258). And it is in encounters with migrants that ethnographic knowledge is collaboratively

⁷⁵ The approach, which draws on the work of French economist Yann Moulier Boutang, was developed and put forward most strongly by a group of researchers participating in the joint academic and artistic project "Transit Migration" (2004–2006); see Transit Migration Forschungsgruppe (2007). Debates were then carried on in the journal *movements* and the publications of a network of critical migration and border regime studies, the Netzwerk kritische Migrations- und Grenzregimeforschung – kritnet (e.g. Hess and Kasparek 2010, Hess et al. 2014, Hess et al. 2016). See also Karakayali and Tsianos (2005).

produced and migrants' strategies of legal and political subjectivation become visible and are subsequently contextualized by the researcher – once he or she is back home – by means of a discursive analysis of hegemonic relations of representation and forms of subjectivation. (Hess and Tsianos 2010: 258–259). Like the shift from the ethnographic encounter to anthropological theorizing that we observed with de Genova, here we find a curious split between the observation of (migrants') social practices in the border zone and an *ex post* discursive analysis of the hegemonic relations of the representation of such practices in the centre. The actual social practices by which administrative law is enacted at home disappear from view in such an approach.

Having shown some of the (perhaps unavoidable) dilemmas of a fieldwork practice that is mindful of its own implicatedness in representations of juridified, asymmetrical state-migrant relations and of the situatedness of knowledge thus produced, for our own research design we shift the perspective in two ways. Firstly, instead of the notion of a single-stranded ethnographic encounter between the citizen-researcher and the non-citizen migrant, we adopt that of a multistranded web of fieldwork relations and situated encounters among actors with varying and graduated legal statuses, socioeconomic positions, experiences of (im)mobility, and perceptions of statehood. Secondly, from the starting point of a researcher who has turned mobile and joins the migrant in his/her negotiation of border zones, we relocate to a position that makes the multistranded negotiations taking place in the realm of administrative law at the researcher's place of residence the initial entry point. The decentring move advocated by Boris Nieswand and described above has helped to also turn our gaze towards the judges, administrative officials, legal professionals, activists, and volunteers that implement administrative and immigration law. Here, the challenge, as we see it, lies in scrutinizing our own subjectivity and positionality as researchers not by means of a discursive analysis of hegemonic structures of representation but by means of ethnographic encounters taking place in these multi-stranded, often conflictual relational webs, in which the all-too-familiar social practices and subjectivities of co-native judges, administrators, lawyers and volunteers are collaboratively explored and questioned alongside, in relation to, or in juxtaposition with migrants' social practices and subjectivities. Rather than replicating the anthropological reflex to study a marginalized group of persons from a position of socioeconomic and legal privilege, we study down, up, and sideways in ethnographic encounters with all involved actors who, depending on context and situation, might not only have different legal statuses and amounts of socioeconomic capital, knowledge, or authority than the researcher, but who also situationally and performatively address each other and are addressed as migrant-other, native researcher, or state representative in their interactions – thus adding layers of representation as well as critiques of their own to our interpretation.

George E. Marcus, a key contributor to debates about the crisis of representation in anthropology, observed in 1999 that the positioning of ethnographers in these kinds of novel fieldwork situations requires rethinking the project of critical anthropology. He speaks of a 'circumstantial activism' resulting from the negotiation of fieldwork relations with different constituencies that is best understood as a practice embedded in the ethnographic encounter rather than in the theoretical frameworks of the 'left-liberal scholar'. He uses the term 'citizen-anthropologist' to describe the "shifts in contexts, constituencies, and agendas" (Marcus 1999: 15) that take place in ethnographic research and entail multiple, conflicting, and ambiguous involvements. This is not the anthropologist-as-native-citizen that de Genova has in mind, but an anthropologist engaged in relational practices, negotiations of claims, and interventions in multiple sites in which "the

40

concepts of elites, anthropologists and subalterns get rearranged" and in which the capacity for critical perspectives and self-reflexivity is not reserved for the anthropologist or, for that matter, the subaltern (ibid.: 16). This is a kind of citizenship practice or circumstantial activism in which public issues get addressed in intimate fieldwork encounters and the anthropologist's subjectivity is politicized alongside the subjectivities of his or her interlocutors.

How can such an understanding of the citizen-anthropologist be inserted into the proposed interdisciplinary research agenda and made productive? First of all, it suggests a more radical questioning of scholarly knowledge production, which can no longer be perceived as a domain of practice separate from the social worlds that surround it. This insight can – and must – be extended to administrative law scholarship. Doctrinal reasoning, with its closely linked manifestations as a form of scholarly activity and as a judicial practice, lends itself to such a rethinking: what for the anthropologist is the examination of his or her positionality in a web of field relations should, for the legal scholar, be the recognition of doctrinal reasoning as an embedded social practice. The interdisciplinary researcher who aims to conjoin both disciplines is then faced with an enormous challenge: she or he has to simultaneously explore administrative law doctrine as the empirical condition shaping migrants' perceptions of self and state, take on administrative law's logic of classifications and systematizations as an object of analysis in itself, and finally, reflect upon his or her own use of these categorizations and systematizations in academic practice. Fieldwork in such an encompassing sense entails an engagement with legal categorizations and systematizations in which it becomes increasingly difficult to disentangle the analytical vocabulary from the socially productive forces, and thus from the tangible effects of such categorizations and systematizations in legal practice and scientific discourse.

In our attempt to master these challenges, we draw guidance from the ethnomethodologically inspired social-constructivist concept of 'un/doing difference' first developed by West and Fenstermaker (1995) and recently elaborated by Hirschauer (2014).⁷⁶ It understands social difference as being produced in mundane everyday interactions in all kinds of social contexts (from family, workplace, or school to administrative authority, court, or academia) and provides an analytical lens for understanding when and what kinds of difference are made socially significant. The concept makes it possible to empirically trace how a situationally produced socially significant difference can turn into a consolidated structure of inequality and exclusion, but also brings into view the undoing of differences that results from having to choose between various markers of difference (such as class, gender, ethnicity, age, education, legal status etc.) in each social interaction. By consciously and repeatedly applying this concept to all fieldwork encounters in the relational web described above (i.e. interactions with migrants, activists, lawyers/legal aid providers, state officials, judges) as well to the anthropologist's and administrative law scholar's positioning in these, we can make the 'doing and undoing of difference' visible and thereby locate the moment of self-reflexivity and social critique in the encounter and among the participating actors themselves.

Such a reflexive research practice turns the academic involvement in the reproduction of unequal relations and mechanisms of exclusion during the course of research and knowledge production itself into an object of investigation. Here, we see an opportunity for integrating this approach in

⁷⁶ In a different context, research undertaken in the Department 'Integration and Conflict' of the Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology has also emphasized that difference and sameness can both be understood as modes of integration or inclusion. Depending on context, they can also both operate as modes of exclusion. Ethnographic research is needed to capture the situatedness of such processes of in- or exclusion (cf. Schlee and Horstmann 2018, Eidson et al. 2017)

administrative law studies, where it can be linked to administrative law scholarships' existing reflexive concern with the nature of doctrinal reasoning and interdisciplinarity. Understanding scholarly doctrinal activity as a contextualized social practice in a field of unequal power relations and making the social practice of producing doctrinal knowledge an object of reflection can provide an opening for forms of social critique from within legal scholarship. While such a move partially deconstructs the position of doctrinal reasoning in legal scholarship, it is constructive in the sense that it ultimately (re)affirms the function of doctrinal reasoning.

5 Summary and Outlook

In this paper we proposed an interdisciplinary research agenda for studying transformative dynamics in German administrative law through the lens of migration and based on the premise that Germany can be considered an immigration society. We aligned ourselves with a research paradigm that insists on a decentring move in migration research – away from questions of how to incorporate migrants and towards the study of how core institutions of such a (post)migrant society are transformed. We adopted a broad notion of socio-legal transformation as an analytical angle, the contours, forms, and scope of which are to be empirically and inductively investigated rather than normatively determined. As a particularly promising, but by no means only possible aspect of these transformative dynamics, we suggested changing notions of citizenship and the state under the rule of law (*Rechtsstaatlichkeit*) as they evolve from interactions in and around administrative justice disputes.

We have invested considerable energy in laying the groundwork for an interdisciplinary dialogue, which we believe to be necessary for adequately addressing contemporary questions about the functions of state law in the creation and maintenance of a plural social order that offers equal chances of participation. We identified conceptual frameworks and debates in (new) administrative law studies, legal sociology, and socio-cultural anthropology that have hitherto been largely separate. On this basis, we put forward a proposal to overcome the disciplinary boundaries of knowledge formation as well as the resulting blind spots concerning the interdisciplinary nexus of administrative law, migration, and socio-legal transformation. Our proposal rests on a theoretically and methodologically integrated approach for the ethnographic study of this nexus. Thus, we first explicated our understanding of theory-building in relation to empirical research on the one hand and doctrinal reasoning on the other. We then proceeded to develop composite heuristic concepts. For this, we took inspiration from the use of bridging concepts in the reform approach to administrative law (Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft), but reversed the flow of the interdisciplinary exchange of knowledge - from a concern with how to incorporate extrajudicial (empirical) knowledge into doctrinal reasoning to a process in which existing doctrinal concepts are challenged by juxtaposing them with middle-range theoretical concepts that have emerged from previous qualitative social science research. In our work, these composite concepts function as heuristic devices that generate theoretical insights precisely by shaking up accepted knowledge and calling for a repeated change of perspective. As anchoring foci of research, composite heuristic concepts consequently bind together theoretical, doctrinal, and empirical perspectives in a recursive loop. Finally, we outlined three methodological choices that go hand in hand with such a recursive loop and with our aim to explore the role of administrative law in the production and transformation of social order from an interdisciplinary, yet distinctively ethnographic vantage

point. Our ethnographic fieldwork is guided by a processual approach, an interactionist-relational perspective, and a reflexive mode. These choices translate into an integrated methodological frame.

A final remark is needed regarding our particular interest in the rule of law as a core ordering principle of administrative law and its potential transformations in perception as well as practice. While this is only one among a number of potential avenues of exploration, we find this one especially rewarding and necessary given the current global circulation and promotion of rule-of-law models. It is an empirical question whether our exploration of rule-of-law ideas and rule-of-law practices in the German context will reveal recognizable patterns of socio-legal transformation. Yet if it succeeds in unveiling the contradictions, tensions, and negotiations between how rule of law is represented and how it is actually practised with respect to segments of the population with a fragile legal status or contested membership, this finding will already be a much-needed counterpoint to theoretical and practical rule-of-law interventions elsewhere.

While our four composite heuristic concepts – 'graduated citizenship', 'legal subjectivity', 'room to manoeuvre', and 'notions of *Rechtsstaatlichkeit'* – are arranged in an order that mirrors this interest in the state-citizen relation as governed by the rule of law, they also offer the potential for a broader interdisciplinary debate on migration and public law. Each of these concepts can be taken as an independent starting point for explorations into different constituent aspects of the contemporary social order and transformations of it. 'Graduated citizenship' can provide an entry point to studying social participation, belonging, and inclusion in democratic decision-making processes. 'Legal subjectivity' can be expanded to probe notions of individual autonomy and collective responsibility, as well as definitions of private claims versus the common good/public interest. 'Room to manoeuvre' lends itself to an exploration of the problematics of structure and agency, formality and informality, and legality and illegality. Looking ahead, we hope that the testing of these and the development of new composite heuristic concepts provides a fertile ground for advancing the interdisciplinary study of administrative law and migration.

6 References

Affolter, Laura. 2017. Asyl-Verwaltung kraft Wissens: Die Herstellung von Entscheidungswissen in einer Schweizer Asylbehörde. In: Christian Lahusen und Stephanie Schneider (eds.). *Asyl Verwaltung. Die bürokratische Bearbeitung eines gesellschaftlichen Problems*. Bielefeld: Transcript, pp. 145–171.

Althusser, Louis. 1977. Ideologie und ideologische Staatsapparate. Aufsätze zur marxistischen Theorie. Hamburg: VSA.

Arbeitskreis Ethnologie und Migration e.V. (ed.). 2011. *Migration-Bürokratie-Alltag. Ethnographische Studien im Kontext von Institutionen und Einwanderung.* Berlin: LIT.

Aretxaga, Begona. 2003. Maddening states. Annual Reviews of Anthropology 32: 393–410.

Arnauld, Andreas von. 2014. Öffnung der öffentlich-rechtlichen Methode durch Internationalität und Interdisziplinarität: Erscheinungsformen, Chancen, Grenzen. *Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung deutscher Staatsrechtslehrer* 74: 7–37.

Arndt, Sophie. 2015. Ambivalente Rechtssubjektivität. Zur Position Asylsuchender in der gerichtlichen Interaktion. Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie 35(1): 117–141.

Ataç, Ilker. 2016. Refugee protest camp Vienna: making citizens through locations of the protest movement. *Citizenship Studies* 20(5): 629–646.

Ataç, Ilker, Kima Rygiel and Maurice Stierl. 2016. Introduction: the contentious politics of refugee and migrant protest and solidarity movements: remaking citizenship from the margins. *Citizenship Studies* 20(5): 527–544.

Augsberg, Ino (ed.). 2013. Extrajuridisches Wissen im Verwaltungsrecht. Analysen und Perspektiven. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Baer, Susanne. 2006. "Der Bürger" im Verwaltungsrecht. Subjektkonstruktionen durch Leitbilder vom Staat. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Baer, Susanne. 2017. *Rechtssoziologie: eine Einführung in die interdisziplinäre Rechtsforschung*.3. Edition. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Baer, Susanne. 2004. Schlüsselbegriffe, Typen und Leitbilder als Erkenntnismittel und ihr Verhältnis zur Rechtsdogmatik. In: Eberhard Schmidt-Aßmann und Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem (eds.). *Methoden der Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*. Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 223–252.

Barnard, Alan. 2000. History and theory in anthropology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Barskanmaz, Cengiz. 2008. Rassismus, Postkolonialismus und Recht – Zu einer deutschen Critical Race Theory? *Kritische Justiz* 41(3): 296–302.

Basok, Tanya. 2010. Introduction: opening a dialogue on migrant (rights) activism. *Studies in Social Justice* 4(2): 97–100.

Bast, Jürgen. 2011. Aufenthaltsrecht und Migrationssteuerung. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Bast, Jürgen. 2013. Denizenship als rechtliche Form der Inklusion in eine Einwanderungsgesellschaft. Zeitschrift für Ausländerrecht und Ausländerpolitik 33(10): 353–396.

Baxi, Upendra. 2004. Rule of law in India: theory and practice. In: Randall Peerenboom (ed.). *Asian discourses of rule of law. Theories and implementation of rule of law in twelve Asian countries, France and the U.S.* London: Routledge, pp. 319–338.

Beer, Bettina (ed.). 2008. Methoden ethnologischer Feldforschung. Berlin: Reimer.

Behrmann, Simon. 2014. Accidents, agency and asylum: constructing the refugee subject. Law Critique 14(25): 249–270.

Bellier, Irène and Thomas M. Wilson (eds.). 2000. An anthropology of the European Union: building, imagining and experiencing the new Europe. Oxford: Berghahn Books.

Benda-Beckmann, Franz von. 2002. Who's afraid of legal pluralism? *Journal of Legal Pluralism and Unofficial Law* 34: 37–82.

Benda-Beckmann, Franz von. 2007. Unterwerfung oder Distanz? Rechtsanthropologie, Rechtssoziologie und Rechtspluralismus aus rechtsanthropologischer Sicht. In: Kebeet von Benda-Beckmann and Franz von Benda-Beckmann (eds.). *Die gesellschaftliche Wirkung von Recht. Rechtsethnologische Perspektiven.* Berlin: Reimer, pp. 177–223.

Benda-Beckmann, Franz von. 2008. Riding or killing the centaur? Reflections on the identities of legal anthropology. *International Journal of Law in Context* 4(2): 85–110.

Benda-Beckmann, Franz von and Kebeet von Benda-Beckmann. 1988. Rechtsproduktion der Bevölkerung – Rechtsbewusstsein der Juristen. In: Brun-Otto Bryde and Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem (eds.). *Rechtsproduktion und Rechtsbewusstsein*. Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 11–25.

Benda-Beckmann, Franz von and Keebet von Benda-Beckmann. 1998. Where structures merge: state and off-state involvement in rural social security on Ambon, Indonesia. In: Sandra N. Pannell and Franz von Benda-Beckmann (eds.). *Old world places, new world problems: Exploring resource management issues in Eastern Indonesia*. Canberra: The Australian National University, Centre for Resource and Environmental Studies, pp. 143–180.

Benda-Beckmann, Keebet von. 1981. Forum shopping and shopping forums. Dispute settlement in a Minangkabau village in West Sumatra. *Journal of Legal Pluralism and Unofficial Law* 13(19): 117–159.

Bender, Rolf und Rolf Schumacher. 1980. Erfolgsbarrieren vor Gericht. Eine empirische Untersuchung zur Chancengleichheit im Zivilprozeß. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Berndt, Thorsten. 2010. *Richterbilder. Dimensionen richterlicher Selbsttypisierungen*. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Bhimji, Fazila. 2016. Visibilities and the politics of space: refugee activism in Berlin. *Journal of Immigrant and Refugee Studies* 14(4): 432–450.

Biebricher, Thomas. 2009. Macht und recht: Foucault. In: Sonja Buckel, Ralph Christensen and Andreas Fischer-Lescano (eds.). *Neue Rechtstheorien*. Stuttgart: Lucius und Lucius, pp. 135–178.

Bierschenk, Thomas and Jean-Pierre Olivier de Sardan (eds.). 2014. *States at work: dynamics of African bureaucracies*. Leiden: Brill.

Blankenburg, Eberhard (ed.). 1975. Empirische Rechtssoziologie. München: Pieper & Co.

Blankenburg, Erhard. 1995. Mobilisierung des Rechts. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer.

Blankenburg, Erhard und Jann Fiedler. 1981. Die Rechtsschutzversicherungen und der steigende Geschäftsanfall der Gerichte. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Bogdandy, Armin von. 2009. The past and promise of doctrinal constructivism: a strategy for responding to the challenges facing constitutional scholarship in Europe. *I.CON* 7(3): 364–400.

Bogumil, Jan, Jonas Hafner and Sabine Kuhlmann. 2016. Verwaltungshandeln in der Flüchtlingskrise. *Die Verwaltung* 49: 289–300.

Bohannan, Paul. 1989. Justice and judgment among the Tiv. Long Grove: Waveland Press.

Bojadzijev, Manuela and Serhat Karakayali. 2007. Autonomie der Migration. 10 Thesen zu einer Methode. In: TRANSIT MIGRATION (ed.). *Turbulente Ränder. Neue Perspektiven auf Migration an den Grenzen Europas.* Bielefeld: Transcript, pp. 203–210.

Bojadzijev, Manuela and Regina Römhild. 2014. Was kommt nach dem "transnational turn"? In: Labor Migration (eds.) *Vom Rand ins Zentrum. Perspektiven einer kritischen Migrationsforschung.* Berliner Blätter. Ethnographische und ethnologische Beiträge 65. Berlin: Panama Verlag, pp. 10–24.

Bonjour, Saskia. 2016. Speaking of rights: the influence of law and courts on the making of family migration policies in Germany. *Law & Policy* 38(4): 328–348.

Bourdieu, Pierre. 1987. The force of law. Toward a sociology of the juridical field. *Hastings Law Journal* 38: 814–853.

Breidenstein, Georg et al. 2013. Ethnografie. Die Praxis der Feldforschung. München: UVK.

Brohm, Wienfried. 1971. Die Dogmatik des Verwaltungsrechts vor den Gegenwartsaufgaben der Verwaltung. *Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung der Deutschen Staatsrechtslehrer* 30: 245–364.

Bryde, Brun-Otto. 1982. Verfassungsentwicklung: Stabilität und Dynamik im Verfassungsrecht der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Bryde, Brun-Otto. 2000. Juristensoziologie. In: Horst Dreier (ed.). Rechtssoziologie am Ende des 20. Jahrhunderts. Gedächtnissymposion für Edgar Michael Wenz. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, pp. 137–146.

Bryde, Brun-Otto and Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem. 1988. Vorwort der Herausgeber. In: Brun-Otto Bryde and Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem (eds.). *Rechtsproduktion und Rechtsbewusstsein*. Baden-Baden: Nomos. pp. 7–10.

Buckel, Sonja. 2007. Subjektivierung und Kohäsion. Weilerswist-Metternich: Velbrück Wissenschaft.

Buckel, Sonja. 2016. Rechtskritik. Kritische Justiz 5: 289-304.

Bumke, Christian (ed.). 2012. *Richterrecht zwischen Gesetzesrecht und Rechtsgestaltung*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Burawoy, Michael. 1991. The extended case method. In: Michael Burawoy et al. (eds.). *Ethnography unbound. Power and resistance in the modern metropolis*. Berkeley: University of California Press, pp. 271–290.

Burgi, Martin. 2016. Das werdende Integrationsverwaltungsrecht und die Rolle der Kommunen. *Deutsches Verwaltungsblatt* 131(16): 1015–1022.

46

Butler, Judith. 1995. "Conscience doth make subjects of us all." Yale French Studies 88: 6-26.

Butler, Judith. 1997. The psychic life of power. Theories in subjection. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Cabot, Heath. 2014. At the doorstep of Europe. Asylum and citizenship in Greece. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Caglar, Ayse. 2002. Der diskrete Charme der Eingeborenen. Drei Gerichtsfälle und die Frage der Regierbarkeit. In: Thomas Hauschild and Bernd Jürgen Warneken (eds.). *Inspecting Germany. Internationale Deutschland-Ethnographie der Gegenwart.* Münster: LIT, pp. 321–339.

Caglar, Ayse. 2015. Anthropology of citizenship. In: James D. Wright (ed.). *International encyclopedia of the social and behavioral sciences*. 2nd edition, vol. 3. Amsterdam: Elsevier, pp. 637–642.

Caglar, Ayse. 2016. Displacement of European citizen Roma in Berlin: acts of citizenship and sites of contentious politics. *Citizenship Studies* 20(5): 647–663.

Conley, John M. and William O'Barr. 1993. Legal anthropology comes home. A brief history of the ethnographic study of law. *Loyola of Los Angeles Law Review* 27: 41–64.

Cremonesi, Laura et al. (eds.). 2016. Foucault and the making of subject. London: Rowmann & Littlefield.

Coutin, Susan Bibler. 2003. *Legalizing moves*. Salvadoran immigrants' struggle for U.S. residency. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Czarniawska, Barbara. 2007. Shadowing and other techniques for doing fieldwork in modern societies. Ljubljana: Liber AB.

Das, Veena and Deborah Poole (eds.). 2004. *Anthropology in the margins of the state*. 2nd edition. Santa Fe: School of American Research Press.

Deutscher Städtetag. 2016. Integration fair finanzieren – gute Ansätze weiterverfolgen, Schlaglichter aus dem Gemeindefinanzbericht 2016 des Deutschen Städtetages. Available online at: http://www.staedtetag.de/imperia/md/content/dst/veroeffentlichungen/gemeindefinanzbericht/ gfb_2016_langfassung.pdf (accessed 22 January 2017).

Di Fabio, Udo. 1997. Verwaltung und Verwaltungsrecht zwischen gesellschaftlicher Selbstregulierung und staatlicher Steuerung. *Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung der deutschen Staatsrechtslehrer* 56: 235–282.

Donovan, James M. 2008. Legal anthropology. An introduction. Lanham: Rowmann & Littlefield.

Drotbohm, Heike and Boris Nieswand. 2014. *Kultur, Gesellschaft, Migration. Die Reflexive Wende in der Migrationsforschung.* Studien Zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Dupret, Baudouin, Michael Lynch and Tim Berard. 2015. Introduction. Law at work. In: Baudouin Dupret, Tim Berard and Michael Lynch (eds.). *Law at work. Studies in legal ethnomethodology*. Oxford: Oxford Studies in Language and Law, pp. 1–24.

Eckert, Julia. 2012. Rumours of Rights. In: Julia Eckert et al. (eds.). *Law against the state: ethnographic forays into law's transformations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 147–170.

Eckert, Julia et al. 2012. Introduction: law's travels and transformations. In: Julia Eckert et al. (eds.). *Law against the state: ethnographic forays into law's transformations*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1–22.

Eichenhofer, Johannes. 2013. Begriff und Konzept der Integration im Aufenthaltsgesetz. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Eichenhofer, Johannes. 2014. Die "Integration von Ausländern" als Verwaltungsaufgabe. *Die öffentliche Verwaltung* 18: 776–785.

Eichenhofer, Johannes. 2016. Integrationsgesetzgebung. Zeitschrift für Ausländerrecht und Ausländerpolitik 36(8): 251–261.

Eichenhofer, Johannes. 2016a. Das Datenaustauschverbesserungsgesetz. *Neue Zeitschrift für Verwaltungsrecht* 35(7): 431–435.

Eifert, Martin. 2014. Conceptualizing administrative law. Legal protection versus regulatory approach. In: Hermann Pünder and Christian Waldhoff (eds.). *Debates in German public law*. Oxford: Hart Publishing, pp. 203–218.

Eidson, John R. et al.. 2017. From identification to framing and alignment. A new approach to the comparative analysis of collective identities. *Current Anthropology* 58(3): 340–359.

Eifert, Martin. 2017. Transformationen der Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft – Neue Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft. *Jahrbuch für öffentliches Recht der Gegenwart* 65: 457–469.

Eule, Tobias G. 2014. *Inside immigration law: migration management and policy application in Germany*. Farnham: Ashgate.

Evans, Tony. 2010. *Professional discretion in welfare services: beyond street-level bureaucracy.* Farnham: Ashgate.

Evens, Robert and Don Handelman. 2006. Introduction: the ethnographic praxis of the theory of practice. In: Robert Evens and Don Handelman (eds.). *The Manchester School: practice and ethnographic praxis in anthropology*. New York [u.a.]: Berghahn Books, pp. 1–13.

Ewick, Patricia and Susan Silbey. 1998. *The common place of law: stories from everyday life*. Chicago: University Chicago Press.

Farahat, Anuscheh. 2014. Progressive Inklusion. Zugehörigkeit und Teilhabe im Migrationsrecht. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer.

Fassin, Didier et al. 2015. At the heart of the state: the moral world of institutions. London: Pluto Press.

Felstiner, William L.F, Richard L. Abel and Austin Sarat. 1981. The emergence and transformation of disputes: naming, blaming, claiming.... *Law & Society Review* 15(3–4): 631–654.

Folianty, Lena and Ulrike Lembke. 2014. Die Konstruktion des Anderen in der "Ehrenmord"-Rechtsprechung. *Kritische Justiz* 47(3): 298–315.

Foroutan, Naika. 2016. Postmigrantische Gesellschaften. In: Heinz Ulrich Brinkmann and Martina Sauer (eds.). *Einwanderungsgesellschaft Deutschland. Entwicklung und Stand der Integration.* Wiesbaden: Springer VS, pp. 227–255.

Forst, Rainer und Klaus Günther. 2010. Die Herausbildung normativer Ordnungen. Zur Idee eines interdisziplinären Forschungsprogramms. Normative Orders Working Paper 1/2010.

Frankfurt/Main: Goethe University. Available online at: http://publikationen.ub.unifrankfurt.de/volltexte/2010/8073/pdf/ForstGuentherDie_Herausbildung_normativer_Ordnungen. _Zur_Idee_eines_interdisziplinaeren_Forschungsprogramms.pdf (accessed 29 March 2017).

Fortes, Meyer and Edward E. Evans-Pritchard (eds.). 1940. *African political systems*. London: Oxford University Press.

Foucault, Michel. 1982. The subject and power. Critical Inquiry 8(4): 777-795.

Frankenberg, Günter. 2009. Partisanen der Rechtskritik: critical legal studies etc. In: Sonja Buckel, Ralph Christensen and Andreas Fischer-Lescano (eds.). *Neue Theorien des Rechts*. 2nd edition. Tübingen: UTB, pp. 93–111.

Gärditz, Klaus Ferdinand. 2011. Das Sonderverwaltungprozesssrecht des Asylverfahren. In: Peter Baumeister, Wolfgang Roth and Josef Ruthig (eds.). *Staat, Verwaltung und Rechtsschutz. Festschrift für Wolfgang-Rüdiger Schenke zum 70. Geburtstag.* Berlin: Duncker & Humblot, pp. 689–707.

Gehrig, Tina. 2004. Afghan Experience of Asylum in Germany: Towards an Anthropology of Legal Categories. *Tsantsa. Zeitschrift der Schweizerischen Ethnologischen Gesellschaft* 9: 72–80

Gerhardt, Michael. 2016. § 114. Nachprüfung von Ermessensentscheidungen. In: Friedrich Schoch, Jens-Peter Schneider und Wolfgang Bier (eds.) *Verwaltungsgerichtsordnung*. 32. EL Oktober 2016. München: C.H. Beck.

Genova, Nicolas de. 2016. The 'native's' point of view in the anthropology of migration. *Anthropological Theory* 16(2–3): 227–240.

Geis, Wido and Anja Kathrin Orth. 2016. Flüchtlinge regional besser verteilen. Ausgangslage und Ansatzpunkte für einen neuen Verteilungsmechanismus. Gutachten für die Robert-Bosch-Stiftung. Köln: Institut der deutschen Wirtschaft Köln.

Gibb, Robert and Anthony Good. 2014. Interpretation, translation and intercultural communication in refugee status determination procedures in the UK and France. *Language and Intercultural Communication* 14: 385–399.

Glick-Schiller, Nina. 2005. Transborder citizenship. An outcome of legal pluralism in transnational social fields. In: Franz von Benda-Beckmann, Keebet von Benda-Beckmann and Anne Griffiths (eds.). *Mobile people, mobile law*. Aldershot: Ashgate, pp. 27–51.

Glick-Schiller, Nina, Linda Basch and Cristina Blanc-Szanton. 1997. Transnationalismus: Ein neuer analytischer Rahmen zum Verständnis von Migration. In: Hans Kleger (ed.). *Transnationale Staatsbürgerschaft*. Frankfurt, New York: Campus Verlag, pp. 81–107.

Gluckman, Max. 1940. The bridge. Analysis of a social situation in modern Zululand. *Bantu Studies* 14(1): 1–30.

Gluckman, Max. 2006. Ethnographic data in British social anthropology. In: Robert Evens and Don Handelman (eds.). *The Manchester School: practice and ethnographic praxis in anthropology*. New York et al.: Berghahn Books, pp. 13–23.

Görlitz, Axel. 1975. Verwaltungsgerichtsbarkeit in Deutschland. München: Luchterhand.

Graham, Marc. 2002. Emotional bureaucracies: emotions, civil servants, and immigrants in the Swedish welfare state. *Journal of the Society for Psychological Anthropology* 30(3): 199–226.

48

Greenhouse, Carol. 1986. *Praying for justice: faith, order, and community in an American town.* Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Griffiths, John. 1986. What is legal pluralism? *Journal of Legal Pluralism and Unofficial Law* 18(24): 1–55.

Grimm, Dieter. 2009. Stufen der Rechtsstaatlichkeit. Zur Exportfähigkeit einer westlichen Errungenschaft. *Juristenzeitung* 64(12): 596–600.

Groß, Thomas. 2014. Das Ausländerrecht zwischen obrigkeitsstaatlicher Tradition und menschenrechtlicher Herausforderung. *Archiv des öffentlichen Rechts* 139: 420–445.

Günther, Klaus. 2014. *Normativer Rechtspluralismus – Eine Kritik*. Normative Orders Working Paper 3/2014. Frankfurt/Main: Goethe University. Available online at: http://publikationen.ub.uni-frankfurt.de/files/34664/ Guenther_Normativer+Rechtspluralismus.pdf (accessed 29 March 2017).

Günther, Klaus and Shalini Randeria. 2001. *Recht, Kultur und Gesellschaft im Prozeß der Globalisierung*. Schriftenreihe Suchprozesse für innovative Fragestellungen in der Wissenschaft Nr. 4. Bad Homburg: Programmbeirat der Werner Reimers Konferenzen.

Gupta, Akhli. 1995. Blurred boundaries: the discourse of corruption, the culture of politics, and the imagined state. *American Ethnologist* 2(2): 375–402.

Gupta, Akhil. 2012. *Red tape: bureaucracy, structural violence and poverty in India*. Durham: Duke University Press.

Gupta, Akhil and James Ferguson. 1997. Discipline and practice. "The field" as site, method and location in anthropology. In: Akhil Gupta and James Ferguson (eds.). *Anthropological locations*. *Boundaries and grounds of a field science*. Berkeley: University of California Press, pp. 101–146.

Hailbronner, Kay. 1983. Ausländerrecht und Verfassung. Neue Juristische Wochenschrift 36(38): 2105–2113.

Hailbronner, Kay. 2016. *Legal requirements for the EU-Turkey refugee agreement: a reply to J. Hathaway.* Verfassungsblog. Available online at: http://verfassungsblog.de/legal-requirements-for-the-eu-turkey-refugee-agreement-a-reply-to-j-hathaway/ (accessed 10 January 2017).

Hansen, Thomas B. and Finn Stepputat (eds.). 2001. *States of imagination: ethnographic explorations of the postcolonial state*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.

Harbou, Frederik von. 2016. Das Integrationsgesetz. *Neue Zeitschrift für Verwaltungsrecht* 35(17): 1193–1199.

Hart, Betty de, Wibo van Rossum and Iris Sportel. 2013. Law in the everyday lives of transnational families: an introduction. *Oñati Socio-Legal Series* 13(6): 991–1003.

Hathaway, James C. 2016. *Taking refugee rights seriously: a reply to professor Hailbronner*. Verfassungsblog. Available omnline at: http://verfassungsblog.de/taking-refugee-rights-seriously-a-reply-to-professor-hailbronner/ (accessed 10 January 2017).

Hertogh, Marc. 2010. Through the eyes of bureaucrats: how front-line officials understand administrative justice. In: Michael Adler (ed.). *Administrative justice in context*. Oxford: Hart Publishing, pp. 203–225.

Hertogh, Marc. 2013. A sociology of the rule of law: why, what, where and who cares? University of Groningen Faculty of Law Research Paper Series 10/2013. Groningen: University of Groningen. Available online at: http://ssrn.com/abstract=2285996 (accessed 23 April 2017).

Hertogh, Marc. 2016. Your rule of law is not mine: rethinking empirical approaches to EU rule of law promotion. *Asia Europe Journal* 14(1): 43–59.

Herzfeld, Michael. 1992. The social production of indifference: exploring the roots of Western bureaucracy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Hess, Sabine and Bernd Kasparek (eds.). 2010. *Grenzregime. Diskurse, Praktiken, Institutionen in Europa.* Berlin: Assoziation A.

Hess, Sabine et al. (eds.). 2014. Grenzregime II. Migration, Kontrolle, Wissen. Transnationale Perspektiven. Berlin: Assoziation A.

Hess, Sabine et al. (eds.). 2016. Der lange Sommer der Migration. Grenzregime III. Berlin: Assoziation A.

Hess, Sabine and Henrik Lebuhn. 2014. Politiken der Bürgerschaft. Zur Forschungsdebatte um Migration, Stadt und Citizenship. sub\urban. Zeitschrift für kritische Stadtforschung 2: 11–34.

Hess, Sabine and Vassilis Tsianos. 2010. Ethnographische Grenzregimeanalyse. Eine Methodologie der Autonomie der Migration. In: Sabine Hess and Bernd Kasparek (eds.). *Grenzregime: Diskurse, Praktiken, Institutionen in Europa.* Berlin: Assoziation A, pp. 243–264.

Hilden, Hartmut. 1971. Rechtstatsachen im Räumungsrechtsstreit. Hanau: Haag und Herchen.

Hilgendorf, Eric and Helmuth Schulze-Fielitz. 2015. Rechtswissenschaft im Prozess der Selbstreflexion. In: Eric Hilgendorf and Helmuth Schulze-Fielitz (eds.). *Selbstreflexion in der Rechtswissenschaft*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, pp. 1–12.

Hirschauer, Stefan. 2014. Un/doing Differences. Die Kontingenz sozialer Zugehörigkeiten. Zeitschrift für Soziologie 43(3): 170–191.

Hochschild, Arlie Russell. 1983. *The managed heart. The commercialization of human feeling.* Berkeley: University of California Press.

Hoffmann-Riem, Wolfgang. 1993. Reform des Verwaltungsrechts. Grundfragen. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Hoffmann-Riem, Wolfgang. 2012. Rechtsformen, Handlungsformen, Bewirkungsformen. In: Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem, Eberhard Schmidt-Aßmann and Andreas Voßkuhle (eds.). *Grundlagen des Verwaltungsrechts*. Volume 2. 2nd edition. München: C.H. Beck, pp. 943–1023.

Hoffmann-Riem, Wolfgang. 2016. "Außerjuridisches Wissen, Alltagstheorien und Heuristiken im Verwaltungsrecht. *Die Verwaltung* 49(1): 1–23.

Hoffmann-Riem, Wolfgang (ed.). 2016a. Innovationen im Recht. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Hoffmann-Riem, Wolfgang and Eberhard Schmidt-Aßmann (eds.). 1994. Innovation und Flexibilität des Verwaltungshandelns. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Hofmann, Hasso. 1995. Geschichtlichkeit und Universalitätsanspruch des Rechtsstaats. *Der Staat* 34(1): 1–32.

Holmes, Douglas R. and George Marcus. 2008. Collaboration today and the re-imagination of the classic scene of fieldwork encounter. *Collaborative Anthropologies* 1: 81–101.

Holmes, Seth M. and Meike Castaneda. 2016. Representing the "European refugee crisis" in Germany and beyond: deservingness, difference, live and death. *American Ethnologist* 43(1): 12–24.

Hummel, Caroline-Antonia and Michael Thöne. 2016. *Für eine ausgewogene Finanzierung der Flüchtlingsleistungen bei Bund, Ländern und Kommunen*. Studie für die Robert-Bosch-Stiftung. Köln: Finanzwissenschaftliches Forschungsinstitut an der Universität zu Köln.

Humphreys, Stephen. 2012. *Theatre of the rule of law. Transnational legal intervention in theory and practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Isin, Engin and Greg Nielsen (eds.). 2008. Acts of citizenship. London: Zed Books.

Isin, Engin and Michael Saward (eds.). 2013. *Enacting European citizenship*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jackson, Anthony. 1987. Anthropology at home. London: Tavistock Publications.

James, Deborah and Alice Forbess. 2014. Acts of assistance. Navigating the interstices of the British state with the help of non-profit legal advisers. *Social Analysis* 58(3): 73–89.

Jellinek, Georg. 2011 [1905]. System der subjektiven öffentlichen Rechte. Freiburg: Mohr Siebeck.

Jestaedt, Matthias. 2008. Perspektiven der Rechtwissenschaftstheorie. In: Matthias Jestaedt (ed.). *Rechtswissenschaftstheorie.* Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, pp. 185–205.

Jubany, Olga. 2011. Constructing truths in a culture of disbelief: understanding asylum screening from within. *International Sociology* 26: 74–94.

Kaiser, Anna-Bettina. 2013. Multidisziplinäre Begriffsverwendungen. Zum verwaltungsrechtswissenschaftlichen Umgang mit sozialwissenschaftlichen Konzepten. In: Ino Augsberg (ed.). *Extrajuridisches Wissen im Verwaltungsrecht*. Tübingen: Mohr-Siebeck, pp. 99–117.

Kaiser, Anna-Bettina. 2014. Die Öffnung der öffentlich-rechtlichen Methode durch Internationalität und Interdisziplinarität. Erscheinungsformen, Chancen, Grenzen. *Deutsches Verwaltungsblatt* 129: 1102–1108.

Kalthoff, Herbert. 2008. Einleitung. Zur Dialektik von qualitativer Forschung und soziologischer Theoriebildung. In: Herbert Kalthoff, Stefan Hirschauer and Gesa Lindemann (eds.). *Theoretische Empirie*. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, pp. 8–33.

Karakayali, Serhat and Vassilis Tsianos. 2005. Mapping the order of new migration. Undokumentierte Arbeit und die Autonomie der Migration. *Peripherie. Zeitschrift für Politik und Ökonomie in der Dritten Welt* 97(98): 35–64.

Kaupen, Wolfgang. 1969. Die Hüter von Recht und Ordnung. Die soziale Herkunft, Erziehung und Ausbildung der deutschen Juristen; eine soziologische Analyse. Neuwied: Luchterhand.

Kawar, Leila. 2012. Juridical framings of immigrants in the United States and France: courts, social movements, and symbolic politics. *International Migration Review* 46(2): 414–455.

Kawar, Leila. 2015. Contesting immigration in court. Legal activism and its radiating effects in the United States and France. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kempny, Marian. 2006. History of the Manchester School. In: Robert Evens and Don Handelman (eds.). *The Manchester School: practice and ethnographic praxis in anthropology*. New York: Berghahn Books, pp. 180–202.

Kirchhof, Gregor, Stefan Magen and Karsten Schneider (eds.). 2012. Was weiß Dogmatik? Was leistet und wie steuert die Dogmatik des Öffentlichen Rechts? Tübingen: Mohr-Siebeck.

Kluth, Winfried. 2016. Das Asylpaket II – eine Gesetzgebung im Spannungsfeld zwischen politischen Versprechen und rechtlich-administrativer Wirklichkeit. Zeitschrift für Ausländerrecht und Ausländerpolitik 36(4): 121–130.

Kluth, Winfried. 2016a. Grundlagen und Strukturen eines Migrationsfolgenrechts. *Deutsches Verwaltungsblatt* 131(17): 1081–1088.

Kobelinsky, Carolina. 2015. Judging intimacies at the French court of asylum. *Political and Legal Anthropology Review* 38(2): 338–355.

Kofman, Eleonore. 2002. Contemporary European migrations, civic stratification and citizenship. *Political Geography* 21(8): 1035-54.

Kohlhagen, Dominik. 2006. "Illegale" Migration und Rechtskultur – Beobachtungen aus einer Feldforschung unter Afrikanern in Deutschland. Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie 06(27): 239–250.

Kokott, Juliane. 2014. Art. 16 GG. In: Michael Sachs (ed.). *Grundgesetz Kommentar*. 7. Aufl. München: C.H. Beck, S. 674–689.

Kötter, Matthias and Gunnar Folke-Schuppert. 2014. Rule of Law: Leitbild und Maßstab auch jenseits des staatlichen Rechts? *Verfassung und Recht in Übersee* 4: 369–391.

Krahnenpohl, Uwe. 2010. Hinter dem Schleier des Beratungsgeheimnisses. Der Willensbildungsund Entscheidungsprozess des Bundesverfassungsgerichts. Wiesbaden: VS-Verlag.

Krajewski, Markus. 2016. Status als Instrument des Migrationsrechts. Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung der Deutschen Staatsrechtslehrer 76: 123–167.

Kramer, Fritz and Christian Sigrist. 1983. Gesellschaften ohne Staat. Frankfurt am Main: Syndikat.

Krishnan, Jayanth K. 2006. Lawyering for a cause and experiences from abroad. *California Law Review* 94(2): 575–615.

Krohn-Hansen, Christian and Knut Nustad. 2005. Introduction. In: Christian Krohn-Hansen and Knut Nustad (eds.). *State formation. Anthropological perspectives*. London: Pluto Press, pp. 3–26.

Krygier, Martin. 2009. The rule of law: legality, teleology, sociology. In: Gianluigi Palombella and Neil Walker (eds.). *Relocating the rule of law*. Oxford: Hart Publishing, pp. 45–69.

Kubal, Agnieszka. 2012. Facts and fabrications. Experiences of law and legality among return migrants in Ukraine. International Migration Institute Working Paper 59. Oxford: International Migration Institute, Oxford University. Available online at: https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/uuid:6cebe4b7-3f2a-445c-a51c-fd179a0d5d6f (accessed 13 June 2017).

Kubal, Agnieszka. 2013. Conceptualizing semi-legality in migration research. *Law & Society Review* 47(3): 555–587.

Lahusen, Christian. 2016. Auf dem Weg zu einem europäischen Verwaltungsfeld? Zur Soziologie der Bürokratisierung Europas am Beispiel des Gemeinsamen Europäischen Asylsystems. *Berliner Journal für Soziologie* 26(1): 109–133.

Latour, Bruno. 2007. The recall of modernity. Anthropological approaches. *Cultural Studies Review* 13(1): 11–30.

Latour, Bruno. 2009. The making of law. An ethnography of the Conseil d'État. Malden: Polity Press.

Lautmann, Rüdiger. 2011 [1972]. Justiz – die stille Gewalt. Teilnehmende Beobachtung und entscheidungssoziologische Analyse. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Lembke, Ulrike and Doris Liebscher. 2014. Postkategoriales Antidiskriminierungsrecht?- Oder: Wie kommen Konzepte der Intersektionalität in die Rechtsdogmatik? In: Simone Philipp et al. (ed.). *Intersektionale Benachteiligung und Diskriminierung. Soziale Realitäten und Rechtspraxis.* Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 261–290.

Levitt, Peggy and Sally Engle Merry. 2009. Vernacularization on the ground: local uses of global womens' rights in Peru, China, India and the United States. *Global Networks* 9(4): 441–461.

Liebscher, Doris et al. 2014. Rassismus im Gerichtssaal. Kritische Justiz 14(2): 135–151.

Lipsky, Michael. 1980. Street-level bureaucracy: dilemmas of the individual in public services. New York: Russel Sage Foundation.

Löschper Gabriele. 1999. Bausteine für eine psychologische Theorie richterlichen Urteilens. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Lucke, Doris. 1996. *Recht ohne Geschlecht? Zu einer Rechtssoziologie der Geschlechterverhältnisse*. Pfannweiler: Centaurus Verlag.

Machura, Stefan. 2012. German sociology of law: a case of path dependency. *Journal of Law in Context* 8(4): 506–523.

Malinowski, Bronislaw. 1922. Argonauts of the Western Pacific. London: Routledge.

Malinowski, Bronislaw. 1926. *Crime and custom in savage society*. London: Kegan Paul, Trench, Trubner and Co.

Manzo, John F. 1997. Ethnomethodology, conversation analysis and the sociology of law. In: Max Travers and John F. Manzo. (eds.). *Law in action: ethnomethodological and conversation analytic approaches to law*. Dartmouth: Ashgate: pp. 1–24.

Marcus, Anthony. 2008. Interrogating the neo-pluralist orthodoxy in American anthropology. *Dialectical Anthropology* 32: 59–86.

Marcus, George E. 1995. Ethnography in/of the world-system. The emergence of multi-sited ethnography. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 24: 95–117.

Marcus, George E. 1999. Critical anthropology now. An introduction. In: George E. Marcus (ed.). *Critical anthropology now. Unexpected encounters, shifting constituencies, changing agendas.* Santa Fe: School of American Research Press, pp. 3–28.

Marcus, George E. and Michael F. Fischer. 1986. *Anthropology as cultural critique. An experimental moment in the human sciences*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Marshall, Anna-Maria and Daniel Crocker Hale. 2014. Cause lawyering. Annual Review of Law and Social Science 10: 301–320.

54

Marshall, T.H. 1950. *Citizenship and social class and other essays*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Marx, Reinhard. 2012. Probleme der Kommunikation und Darstellung der Lebenswirklichkeit von Flüchtlingen im Asylverfahren. Zeitschrift für Ausländerrecht und Ausländerpolitik (32)11–12: 417–423.

Marx, Reinhard. 2016. Europäische Integration durch Solidarität beim Flüchtlingsschutz. *Kritische Justiz* 49(2): 150–166.

Masing, Johannes. 2012. Der Rechtsstatus des Einzelnen im Verwaltungsrecht. In: Susanne Baer, Marion Albers and Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem (ed.). *Grundlagen des Verwaltungsrechts*. Volume1. 2nd edition. München: Beck, pp. 391–492.

Maurer, Hartmut. 2011. Allgemeines Verwaltungsrecht. 18th edition. München: C.H.Beck.

Mayntz, Renate and Fritz W. Scharpf .1995. Der Ansatz des akteurzentrierten Institutionalismus. In: Renate Mayntz, Fritz W. Scharpf and Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung (ed.), *Gesellschaftliche Selbstregelung und politische Steuerung*. Frankfurt a. M.: Campus, pp. 39–72.

Mayntz, Renate. 2005. Governance theory als fortentwickelte Steuerungstheorie? In: Gunnar Folke Schuppert (ed.). *Governance-Forschung. Vergewisserung über Stand und Entwicklungslinien*. Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 11–20.

McCammon, Holly J. and Allison R. McGrath. 2015. Litigating change? Social movements and the court system. *Sociology Compass* 9(2): 128–139.

McCann, Michael. 2006. Law and social movements: contemporary perspectives. *Annual Review of Law and Social Science* 2: 17–38.

McDermont, Morag. 2013. Acts of translation. UK advice agencies and the creation of matters-of-public-concern. *Critical Social Policy* 33(2): 218–242.

Mecheril, Paul et al. (eds.). 2013. *Migrationsforschung als Kritik?: Spielräume kritischer Migrationsforschung*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Meißner, Hanna. 2010. Jenseits des autonomen Subjekts. Zur gesellschaftlichen Konstitution von Handlungsfähigkeit im Anschluss an Butler, Foucault und Marx. Bielefeld: Transcript.

Merry, Sally Engle. 1988. Legal Pluralism. Law & Society Review 22(5): 869-896.

Merry, Sally Engle. 1990. *Getting justice and getting even: legal consciousness among working-class Americans*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Merton, Robert K. 1957. Social theory and social structure. Glencoe, IL: Free Press.

Migdal, Joel S. and Klaus Schlichte. 2005. Rethinking the state. In: Klaus Schlichte (ed.). *The dynamics of state. The formation and crisis of state domination*. Aldershot: Ashgate, pp. 1–40.

Migdal, Joel S. 2006. Whose State Is It, Anyway? Exclusion and the Construction of Graduated Citizenship in Israel. *Israel Studies Forum* 21 (2): 3-27.

Möllers, Christoph. 1999. Braucht das öffentliche Recht einen neuen Methoden- und Richtungsstreit? *Verwaltungsarchiv* 90: 187–207.

Möllers, Christoph. 2002. Theorie, Praxis und Interdisziplinarität in der Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft. *Verwaltungsarchiv* 93: 22–60.

Möllers, Christoph. 2012. Methoden. In: Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem, Eberhard Schmidt-Aßmann, Andreas Voßkuhle (eds.). *Grundlagen der Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*. Volume 1, 2nd Edition. München: C.H.Beck, pp. 128–178.

Moore, Sally Falk. 1973. Law and social change. The semiautonomous social field as an appropriate subject of study. *Law and Society Review* 7(4): 719–746.

Moore, Sally Falk. 2001. Certainties undone. Fifty turbulent years of legal anthropology, 1949–1999. *The Journal of the Royal Anthropological Institute* 7(1): 95–116.

Möschel, Mathias. 2014. Law, lawyers and race: critical race theory from the US to Europe. New York: Routledge.

Morris, Lydia. 2002. *Managing Migration. Civic stratification and migrants' rights*. New York: Routledge.

Müller, Ulrike A. C. 2011. Professionelle direkte Aktion. Linke Anwaltschaft ohne kollektive Mandantschaft. *Kritische Justiz* 44(4): 448–464.

Nader, Laura (ed.). 1980. No access to law: alternatives to the American judicial system. New York: Academic Press.

Nader, Laura and Hugo Mattei. 2008. Plunder: when the rule of law is illegal. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.

Nader, Laura and Harry F. Todd (eds.). 1978. *The disputing process. Law in ten societies*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Nielsen, Laura B. 2012. The need for multi-method approaches in empirical legal research. In: Peter Cane and Herbert M. Kritzer (eds.). *The Oxford handbook of empirical legal research*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 951–975.

Nieswand, Boris. 2016. Die Dezentrierung der Migrationsforschung. In: Kerstin Kazzazi, Angela Treiber and Tim Wätzold (eds.). *Migration – Religion – Identität. Aspekte transkultureller Prozesse*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS, pp. 282–297.

Nieswand, Boris und Heike Drotbohm (eds.). 2014. Kultur, Gesellschaft, Migration. Die reflexive Wende in der Migrationsforschung. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Nieswand, Boris. 2014. Über die Banalitäten ethnischer Differenzierung. In: Heike Drotbohm and Boris Nieswand (eds.). *Kultur, Gesellschaft, Migration. Die reflexive Wende in der Migrationsforschung.* Studien Zur Migrations- und Integrationspolitik. Wiesbaden: Springer VS, pp. 271–296.

Niezen, Ronald and Maria Sapignoli (eds.). 2017. *Palaces of hope. The anthropology of global organizations*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Nour, Soraya. 2009. Bourdieus juridisches Feld: die juridische Dimension der sozialen Emanzipation. In: Sonja Buckel, Ralph Christensen and Andreas Fischer-Lescano (eds.). *Neue Theorien des Rechts*. Tübingen: UTB, pp. 179–199.

Nugent, David. 1994. Building the state, making the nation: the bases and limits of state centralization in "modern" Peru. *American Anthropologist* 96: 333–369.

Nuijten, Monique. 2003. Power, community and the state: the political anthropology of organisation in Mexico. London: Pluto Press.

Ong, Aihwa. 1999. *Flexible Citizenship: The Cultural Logics of Transnationality*. Durham: Duke University Press.

Opp, Karl-Dieter and Rüdiger Peukert. 1971. Ideologie und Fakten in der Rechtsprechung. Eine soziologische Untersuchung über das Urteil im Strafprozeß. München: Goldmann.

Paley, Julia (ed.). 2008. *Democracy. Anthropological approaches*. Santa Fe: School For Advanced Research Press.

Palombella, Gianluigi and Neil Walker (eds.). 2009. *Relocating the rule of law*. Oxford: Hart Publishing.

Peers, Steve and Emanuela Roman. 2016. *The EU, Turkey and the refugee crisis: what could possibly go wrong*? EU Law Analysis. Available online at: http://eulawanalysis.blogspot.de/2016/02/the-eu-turkey-and-refugee-crisis-what.html (accessed 10 January 2017).

Pelzer, Mareike and Maximilian Pichl. 2016. Die Asylpakete I und II: Verfassungs-, europa- und völkerrechtliche Probleme. *Kritische Justiz* 49(2): 207–219.

Pirie, Fernanda. 2013. The anthropology of law. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Psychogiopoulou, Evangelia. 2014. European courts and the rights of migrants and asylum seekers in Greece. In: Dia Anagnostopoulou (ed.). *Rights and courts in pursuit of social change. Legal mobilization in the multi-level European system.* Oxford: Hart Publishing, pp.129–153.

Rabinow, Paul et al. 2008. *Designs for an anthropology of the contemporary*. Durham: Duke University Press.

Radcliffe-Brown, Alfred Reginald. 1965. *Structure and function in primitive society: essays and addresses*. New York: Free Press.

Rasehorn, Theo. 1969. Von der Klassenjustiz zum Ende der Justiz. Kritische Justiz 69(3): 273–283.

Rehbinder, Manfred. 2014. Rechtssoziologie. Ein Studienbuch. München: Beck.

Richards, Sally. 2015. Unearthing bureaucratic legal consciousness: government officials' legal identification and moral ideas. *International Journal of Law in Context* 11(3): 299–319.

Röhl, Hans Christian. 2014. Öffnung der öffentlich-rechtlichen Methode durch Internationalität und Interdisziplinarität: Erscheinungsformen, Chancen, Grenzen. *Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung deutscher Staatsrechtslehrer* 74: 39–87.

Röhl, Klaus and Hans Christian Röhl. 2008. Allgemeine Rechtslehre. Ein Lehrbuch. 3rd revised edition. Köln: Heymanns.

Römhild, Regina. 2014. Diversität?! Postethnische Perspektiven für eine reflexive Migrationsforschung. In: Boris Nieswand and Heike Drotbohm (eds.). *Kultur, Gesellschaft, Migration. Die reflexive Wende in der Migrationsforschung.* Wiesbaden: Springer VS, pp. 255–270.

Rottleuthner, Hubert. 1969. Klassenjustiz? Kritische Justiz 69(1): 1–26.

Rottleuthner, Hubert. 1984. Rechtssoziologische Studien zur Arbeitsgerichtsbarkeit. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Rüschemeyer, Dietrich. 1976. Juristen in Deutschland und in den USA. Eine vergleichende Untersuchung von Anwaltschaft und Gesellschaft. Stuttgart: Enke.

Sanjek, Roger. 2000. Keeping ethnography alive in an urbanizing world. *Human Organization* 59(3): 280–288.

Santos, Boaventura de Sousa. 1987. Law: a map of misreading. Toward a postmodern conception of law. *Journal of Law and Society* 14(3): 279–302.

Sarat, Austin and Stuart Scheingold (eds.). 1998. *Cause lawyering. Political commitments and professional responsibilities.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Sarat, Austin and Stuart A. Scheingold (eds.). 2001. *Lawyering and the state in a global era*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Sarat, Austin and Stuart A. Scheingold (eds.). 2006. *Cause lawyers and social movements*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Sauer, Martina and Heinz-Ulrich Brinkmann. 2016. Integration in Deutschland. In: Heinz Ulrich Brinkmann and Martina Sauer (eds.). *Einwanderungsgesellschaft Deutschland. Entwicklung und Stand der Integration*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS, pp. 1–21.

Sauerland, Thomas. 2005. Die Verwaltungsvorschrift im System der Rechtsquellen. Berlin: Duncker & Humblot.

Saurer, Johannes. 2006. Die neueren Theorien zur Normkategorie der Verwaltungsvorschriften. *Verwaltungsarchiv* 97: 249–269.

Scheel, Stephan. 2015. Das Konzept der Migration überdenken? Yes, please! Movements. *Journal für kritische Migrations- und Grenzregimeforschung* 1(2): 1–14.

Scheffer, Thomas. 1997. Dolmetschen als Darstellungsproblem. Eine ethnographische Studie zur Rolle der Dolmetscher in Asylanhörungen. Zeitschrift für Soziologie 26(3): 159–180.

Scheffer, Thomas. 2001. Asylgewährung. Eine ethnographische Analyse des deutschen Asylverfahrens. Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

Scheffer, Thomas. 2006a. The microformation of criminal defense. On the lawyer's notes, speech production and a field of presence. *Research on Language and Social Interaction* 39(3): 303–342.

Scheffer, Thomas. 2006b. Law in action versus science in action. How they differ and how they can benefit from their differences. *Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie* 27(1): 67–86.

Scheffer, Thomas. 2007. Event and process. An exercise in analytical ethnography. *Human Studies* 30: 167–197.

Scheffer, Thomas. 2010. Adversarial case-making. An ethnography of the English Crown Court. Amsterdam: Brill.

Scheffer, Thomas. 2015. Diskurspraxis in Recht und Politik. Trans-Sequentialität und die Analyse rechtsförmiger Verfahren. Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie 35(2): 223–244.

Scherzberg, Arno. 2008. Das allgemeine Verwaltungsrecht zwischen Praxis und Reflexion. Theoretische Grundlagen der modernen Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft. In: Hans-Heinrich Trute et al. (eds.). *Allgemeines Verwaltungsrecht – Zur Tragfähigkeit eines Konzepts*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, pp. 837–868.

Schiffauer, Werner. 1995. Die Gewalt der Ehre: Erklärungen Zu einem deutsch-türkischen Sexualkonflikt. Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp.

Schlee, Günther and Alexander Horstmann (eds.). 2018. Difference and sameness as modes of integration. Anthropological perspectives on ethnicity and religion. New York: Berghahn.

Schmidt-Aßmann, Eberhard. 2004. § 26 Der Rechtsstaat. In: Josef Isensee and Paul Kirchhof (eds.). *Handbuch des Staatsrechts der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Band II: Verfassungsstaat.* 3rd revised edition. Karlsruhe: C.F. Müller, pp. 541–612.

Schmidt-Aßmann, Eberhard. 2006 [2004]. Das allgemeine Verwaltungsrecht als Ordnungsidee. Grundlagen und Aufgaben der verwaltungsrechtlichen Systembildung. 2nd Edition. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Schmidt-Aßmann, Eberhard. 2013. Verwaltungsrechtliche Dogmatik. Eine Zwischenbilanz zu Entwicklung, Reform und zukünftigen Aufgaben. Tübingen: Mohr-Siebeck.

Schmidt-Aßmann, Eberhard and Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem (eds.). 2004. *Methoden der Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft*. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Schmidt-Preuß, Matthias. 1997. Verwaltung und Verwaltungsrecht zwischen gesellschaftlicher Selbstregulierung und staatlicher Steuerung. Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung der deutschen Staatsrechtslehrer 56: 160–234.

Schoch, Friedrich. 1994. Der Verwaltungsakt zwischen Stabilität und Flexibilität. In: Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem and Eberhard Schmidt-Aßmann (eds.). *Innovation und Flexibilität des Verwaltungshandelns*. Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 199–243.

Schönberger, Christoph. 2005. Unionsbürger: Europas föderales Bürgerrecht in vergleichender Sicht. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Schönberger, Sophie. 2017. Mehr Wissenschaft wagen! Die uneingelösten Versprechen der Neuen Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft. *Jahrbuch des öffentlichen Rechts der Gegenwart* 65: 511–532.

Scholz, Rupert. 2016. Art. 1 GG. In: Theodor Maunz and Günter Dürig (eds.). *Grundgesetz Kommentar*. 78th edition. München: C.H. Beck, pp. 1–54.

Schröder, Meinhard. 2012. Administrative law in Germany. In: René Serden (ed.). Administrative law of the European Union, its member states and the United States. A comparative analysis. 3rd. edition. Cambridge: Intersentia, pp. 39–100.

Schulz-Schaeffer, Ingo. 2004. Rechtsdogmatik als Gegenstand der Rechtssoziologie. Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie 25(2): 141–174.

Schulze-Fielitz, Helmuth. 2011. Zur Geltung des Rechtsstaats. Zwischen Kulturangemessenheit und universellem Anspruch. Zeitschrift für vergleichende Politikwissenschaft 5: 1–19.

Schulze-Fielitz, Helmut. 2013. Staatsrechtslehre als Mikrokosmos. Bausteine zu einer Soziologie und Theorie der Wissenschaft des öffentlichen Rechts. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Schuppert, Gunnar Folke. 1993. Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft als Steuerungswissenschaft. In: Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem and Eberhard Schmid-Aßmann (eds.). *Reform des Allgemeinen Verwaltungsrechts. Grundfragen.* Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 65–114.

Schuppert, Gunnar Folke. 1999. Schlüsselbegriffe der Perspektivverklammerung von Verwaltungsrecht und Verwaltungswissenschaft. *Die Verwaltung* Beiheft 2: 103–125.

Schuppert, Gunnar Folke. 2000. Soziologie der öffentlichen Verwaltung. Aufgaben einer zeitgemäßen Verwaltungssoziologie. In: Horst Dreier (ed.). *Rechtssoziologie am Ende des 20. Jahrhunderts.* Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, pp. 206–251.

Schuppert, Gunnar Folke. 2011. Governance und Rechtsetzung. Grundfragen einer modernen Regelungswissenschaft. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Schuster, Liza. 2005. The continuing mobility of migrants in Italy: shifting between places and statuses. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 31(4): 757–774.

Schütze, Fritz. 1978. Strategische Interaktion im Verwaltungsgericht – eine soziolinguistische Analyse zum Kommunikationsverlauf im Verfahren zur Anerkennung als Kriegsdienstverweigerer. In: Wolfgang Hoffmann-Riem et al. (eds.). *Interaktion vor Gericht*. Baden-Baden: Nomos, pp. 19–100.

Schweitzer, Doris. 2015. Macht der Unbestimmtheit? Unbestimmte Rechtsbegriffe als Provokation für die poststrukturalistische Theorie. *Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie* 35(1): 91–116.

Schwenken, Helena. 2013. 'The EU should talk to Germany.' Transnational legal consciousness as a rights claiming tool among undocumented migrants. *International Migration* 51(6): 132–145.

Schwenken, Helena and Marina Benz. 2005. Jenseits von Migration und Kontrolle. Migration als eigensinnige Praxis. *Prokla* 35(3): 363–377.

Sharma, Aradhana and Akhil Gupta. 2006. Introduction: rethinking theories of the state in the age of globalization. In: Aradhana Sharma and Akhil Gupta (eds.). *The anthropology of the state: A reader*. Malden: Blackwell, pp. 1–41.

Siehr, Angelika. 2001. Die Deutschenrechte des Grundgesetzes: Bürgerrechte im Spannungsfeld von Menschenrechtsidee und Staatsmitgliedschaft. Berlin: Duncker & Humblot.

Silbey, Susan. 2005. After legal consciousness. Annual Review of Law and Social Science 5(1): 323–368.

Sobota, Katharina. 1997. Das Prinzip Rechtsstaat. Verfassungs- und verwaltungsrechtliche Aspekte. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Statistisches Bundesamt. 2016. Bevölkerung und Erwerbstätigkeit: Ausländische Bevölkerung und Ergebnisse des Ausländerzentralregisters 2015. Fachserie 1, Reihe 2. Wiesbaden: Statistisches Bundesamt.

Statistisches Bundesamt. 2017. Bevölkerung und Erwerbstätigkeit: Bevölkerung mit Migrationshintergrund – Ergebnisse des Mikrozensus 2015. Fachserie 1, Reihe 2.2. Wiesbaden: Statistisches Bundesamt.

Stegmaier, Peter. 2009. Wissen was Recht ist. Richterliche Rechtspraxis aus wissenssoziologisch ethnografischer Sicht. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften.

Steinsdorff, Silvia von. 2010: Verfassungsgerichte als Demokratie-Versicherung? Ursachen und Grenzen der wachsenden Bedeutung juristischer Politikkontrolle. In: Klemens H. Schrenk and Markus Soldner (eds.). *Die Analyse demokratischer Regierungssysteme. Festschrift für Wolfgang Ismayr*. Wiesbaden: Springer VS, pp. 479–498.

Stone Sweet, Alec. 2000. *Governing with judges. Constitutional politics in Europe*. Oxford New York: Oxford University Press.

60

Tamanaha, Brian Z. 2012. On the rule of law. History, politics, theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Taussig, Michael T. 1992. The nervous system. New York: Routledge.

Tazzioli, Martinan and Nicolas de Genova. 2015. Europe/Crisis: introducing new keywords of "the crisis" in and of "Europe". Available online at: http://nearfuturesonline.org/europecrisis-new-keywords-of-crisis-in-and-of-europe/ (accessed on October 12, 2016).

Teubner, Gunther. 2007. Global Bukowina. In: Gunther Teubner (ed.). *Global law without a state*. Dartmouth: Aldershot, pp. 3–28.

Thelen, Tatjana, Larissa Vetters and Keebet von Benda-Beckmann. 2014. Introduction to stategraphy. Toward a relational anthropology of the state. *Social Analysis* 58(3): 1–19.

Thomassen, Bjørn. 2008. What kind of political anthropology. *International Political Anthropology* 1(2): 263–274.

Thym, Daniel. 2010. *Migrationsverwaltungsrecht*. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.

Thym, Daniel. 2015. Schnellere und strengere Asylverfahren. Die Zukunft des Asylrechts nach dem Beschleunigungsgesetz. *Neue Zeitschrift für Verwaltungsrecht* 34(23): 1625–1632.

Thym, Daniel. 2016. Why the EU-Turkey deal is legal and a step in the right direction. Verfassungsblog. Available online at: http://verfassungsblog.de/why-the-eu-turkey-deal-is-legal-and-a-step-in-the-right-direction/ (accessed on January 10, 2017).

Thym. Daniel. 2016a. Die Auswirkungen des Asylpakets II. Neue Zeitschrift für Verwaltungsrecht 35(7): 409–415.

Thym, Daniel. 2016b. Integration kraft Gesetzes? Grenzen und Inhalte des "Integrationsgesetzes" des Bundes. *Zeitschrift für Ausländerrecht und Ausländerpolitik* 36(8): 241–250.

Thym, Daniel. 2016c. Migrationsfolgenrecht. Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung der Deutschen Staatsrechtslehrer 76: 169–216.

Transit Migration Forschungsgruppe (ed.). 2007. Turbulente Ränder. Neue Perspektiven auf Migration an den Grenzen Europas. Bielefeld: Transcript.

Trauner, Florian. 2016. Wie sollen Flüchtlinge in Europa verteilt werden? Der Streit um einen Paradigmenwechsel in der EU-Asylpolitik. *integration* 39(2): 93–106.

Treiber, Hubert. 2007. Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft als Steuerungswissenschaft. Eine Revolution auf dem Papier? Anmerkungen zu einem intendierten Paradigmenwechsel und zur Kühnheit von Schlüsselbegriffen (Teil 1). *Kritische Justiz* 40(4): 328–346.

Treiber, Hubert. 2008. Verwaltungsrechtswissenschaft als Steuerungswissenschaft. Eine Revolution auf dem Papier? Anmerkungen zu einem intendierten Paradigmenwechsel und zur Kühnheit von Schlüsselbegriffen (Teil 2). *Kritische Justiz* 41(1): 48–70.

Tsourdi, Evangelina. 2016. Bottom-up salvation? From practical cooperation towards joint implementation through the European Asylum Support Office. *European Papers* 1(3): 997–1031.

Trouillot, Michel Rolph. 2001. The anthropology of the state in the age of globalization. *Current Anthropology* 42(1): 125–138.

Tuckett, Anne. 2015. Strategies of navigation. Migrants' everyday encounters with Italian immigration bureaucracy. *The Cambridge Journal of Anthropology* 33(1): 113–128.

Turner, Bryan S. 1993. Contemporary problems in citizenship theory. In: Bryan S. Turner (ed.). *Citizenship and social theory*. London: Sage, pp. 1–18.

Velsen, Jaap van. 1967. The extended-case method and situational analysis. In: Arnold L. Epstein (ed.) *The craft of social anthropology*. London: Tavistock, pp. 129–149.

Vertovec, Steven. 2007. Super-diversity and its implications. *Ethnic and Racial Studies* 30(6): 1024–1054.

Vincent, Joan. 1990. Anthropology and politics. Visions, traditions, and trends. Tuscon: University of Arizona Press.

Voßkuhle, Andreas. 1994. Verwaltungsdogmatik und Rechtstatsachenforschung. Eine Problemskizze. *Verwaltungsarchiv* 85: 567–585.

Voßkuhle, Andreas. 2001. Schlüsselbegriffe der Verwaltungsrechtsreform – eine kritische Bestandsaufnahme. *Verwaltungsarchiv* 92(2): 184–215.

Voßkuhle, Andreas. 2004. Gibt es und wozu nutzt eine Lehre vom Verfassungswandel? *Der Staat* 43(3): 450–459.

Voßkuhle, Andreas. 2007. The reform approach in the German science of administrative law. In: Matthias Ruffert (ed.). *The transformation of administrative law in Europe*. München: Sellier, pp. 89–141.

Voßkuhle, Andreas and Anna-Bettina Kaiser. 2009. Grundwissen – Öffentliches Recht: Das subjektiv-öffentliche Recht. *Juristische Schulung* 49(1): 16–18.

Waldhoff, Christian. 2012. Lob und Kritik der Dogmatik. In: Gregor Kirchhof, Stefan Magen and Karsten Schneider (eds.). *Was weiß Dogmatik? Was leistet und wie steuert die Dogmatik des Öffentlichen Rechts?* Tübingen: Mohr-Siebeck, pp.17–37.

Walter, Christian. 2013. Bürgerstatus im Lichte von Migration und Europäischer Union. Veröffentlichungen der Vereinigung der Deutschen Staatsrechtslehrer 72: S. 7–44.

Werbner, Richard P. 1984. The Manchester School in South Central Africa. *Annual Review of Anthropology* 13: 157–185.

West, Candace and Sarah Fenstermaker. 1995. Doing difference. Gender and Society 9(1): 8–37.

Wijkhuijs, Vina. 2007. Administrative response to court decisions. The impact of court decisions on the asylum procedure. Nijmegen: Wolf Legal Publishers.

Wrase, Michael. 2006. Rechtssoziologie und Law & Society. Die deutsche Rechtssoziologie zwischen Krise und Neuaufbruch. Zeitschrift für Rechtssoziologie 2: 289–312.

Wrase, Michael. 2013. *Wie wirkt Recht? Überlegungen zur Rechtswirkungsforschung unter den Bedingungen konsolidierter und begrenzter Staatlichkeit.* SFB-Governance Working Paper Series Nr. 57. Berlin: Freie Universität Berlin. Available online at: http://edoc.vifapol.de/opus/volltexte/2015/5730/pdf/ SFB_Governance_Working_Paper_57.pdf (accessed 27 March 2017).

Wrase, Michael and Christian Boulanger (eds.). 2013. Die Politik des Verfassungsrechts. Interdisziplinäre und vergleichende Perspektiven auf die Rolle und Funktion von Verfassungsgerichten. Baden-Baden: Nomos.

Yalçın-Heckmann, Lale. 2011. Claiming social citizenship. Citizenship Studies 15(3-4): 433-439.

Zillinger, Martin. 2014. Möglichkeits(t)räume der Migration. Kooperationsstrategien marokkanischer Migranten auf dem Weg nach Europa. In: Bettina Severin-Barboutie (ed.). *Stadt in Bewegung. Wandlungsprozesse in pluridisziplinärer Perspektive*. Paris: Beihefte der Francia Paris. Deutsches Historisches Institut, pp. 489–502.

7 Glossary

GG – Grundgesetz (German Basic Law)

- VwGO Verwaltungsgerichtsordnung (Code of Administrative Court Procedure)
- VwVfG Verwaltungsverfahrensgesetz (Administrative Procedure Act)